
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE 

 
TO BE HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CITY HALL, DAME STREET, DUBLIN 2. 

 
ON MONDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2023 AT 2.30 PM 

 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

MONDAY 13 FEBRUARY 2023
  PAGE 
 
1   Presentation on Community Wealth Building   

 
3 - 43 

2   Presentation on River Dodder Rainscapes.   
 

44 - 63 

3   Environment and Transportation Department Matters 
 

i. Minutes of the Traffic Advisory Group meeting held on the 31st January 
2023. 

 

64 

4   Minutes of South East Area Committee meeting held on 9th January 2023   
 

65 - 75 

5   Culture, Recreation & Economic Services Department Matters 
 

i. Report on City Quay art installation.  
 

ii. Report on art commission for Dartmouth Square. 
 

76 - 80 

6   South East Area Matters 
 

i. Report of the Director of Services. 
 

ii. Report on a proposal to name a development at York Road as Thomas 

81 - 103 

WEBCASTING NOTICE 
 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm 
if all or part of the meeting is being filmed. 
 
You should be aware that the Council is subject to the Freedom of Information Act 2014, the Data Protection Act 1988 and 2018, 
General Data Protection Regulations (EU) 2016/679 and the Defamation Act 2009. Data collected during this webcast will be retained 
in accordance with the legislation. 
 
Therefore, by entering the Council Chamber/Meeting Room and using the seats around the meeting tables, public gallery etc., you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings for webcasting. 
 
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact the Chief Executives Department on Extn. 2101 or DD (01) 222 2100. 

 



 

Clarke House.  
 

iii. Report on a proposal to extinguish a public right of way at rear 32 – 33 
Dolphin Road.  

 
iv. Halloween Fire Works (for discussion).  

 
7   Motions 13.02.2023.   

 
104 - 
106 

8   Questions to the Chief Executive 13.02.2023.   
 

107 - 
124 

 



Community Wealth Building 
Implementation Plan 

Area Committees
Jan 2023

John Heneghan

Associate Director

@johnheneghan
@CLESthinkdo

P
age 3



About CLES

• The national organisation for local economies
• Inclusive economics for people, planet and place
• Thinking and doing, to achieve strong local places and better lives 

for communities
• Led the development of community wealth building in the UK 

P
age 4



Our economic approach isn’t working 

Long before the Covid-19 pandemic, our economic model was failing to deliver better lives

P
age 5



What's going wrong? 

• Much economic progress has been made but 
inequalities still continue to widen in cities 

• A focus on economic ‘growth’ is not enough.  No 
automaticity about improvements in productivity 
delivering better outcomes for people 

• Covid -19 exposed existing inequalities 

• Huge pressure on cities to deal with these 
challenges, along with looming crisis of climate 
change but old orthodoxy is not up to the task

P
age 6



What is community wealth building?

• Strategic approach to local economic development that aims to increase the flow of 
wealth within a place’s economy and in doing so, improve people's lives.  

• Aims to build wealth from within by leveraging benefits from existing resources and assets 
for example:
 Greater diversity of economic ownership
 Decent work, training and progression 
 More small businesses, start-ups, social enterprise. 

• Works towards generative as opposed to an extractive economy which delivers better 
social and economic outcomes for people and planet.

P
age 7



The power of anchor institutions

P
age 8



Community wealth building: 
five key levers

P
age 9



Plural and democratic ownership of 
economy

P
age 10



CWB in Dublin
Implementation Plan

P
age 11



The approach

• CLES support as:
• expert advisor
• facilitator
• coach
• critical friend

• Action learning

• Building confidence and demonstrating impact

• Skills development and knowledge transfer

• Support the role of the CWB Working Group

P
age 12



P
age 13



Building confidence by using pilots and 
area-based action

Phase 1 (Nov 2022 – Mar 2023)

• Harnessing and consolidating existing activity under a CWB framing.

• Using the Social Value Framework to test and evaluate the activities and 
shape them so as to deepen impact.

• Evaluating the diagnostic analyses from the ‘building understanding’ 
work to identify the baseline position and identify potential new areas 
of pilot activity.

• Prioritise these in relation to their potential impact against the Social 
Value Framework outcomes.

• Scope them into implementable proposals for new pilots and area-
based actions.

P
age 14



Building confidence by using pilots and 
area-based action

Phase 2 (Apr 2023 – Mar 2024)

• • Supporting the implementation of new pilots and area-based actions.

• • Using the Social Value Framework to test and evaluate these activities

P
age 15



Points for discussion

• Do you have any questions or comments on the CWB Implementation 
Plan?

• What current activities are the Area Committee involved in that 
contribute to building community wealth?

• What more could be done in this Committee’s area? Do you have any 
ideas for new pilots or area-based action which we could explore for 
Phase 2 of the Action Learning Sets?
• Workforce
• Spending and inclusive economy
• Land and property

P
age 16



(+44) 7466 936262 

@CLESthinkdo
@johnheneghan

www.cles.org.uk

More information and contact 
details

johnheneghan@cles.org.uk

P
age 17

mailto:francesjones@cles.org.uk


 

Community wealth building in Dublin 

Community wealth building in 
Dublin 
Implementation Plan 

 

Page 18



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 

Contents 

1. Introduction ............................................................................................................... 3 

2. Summary of the key themes and issues discussed at the workshop ................ 6 

3. Draft implementation plan .................................................................................... 13 

4. Appendix 1 – Mapping of existing activities and gaps ....................................... 22 

 

 

Page 19



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 3 

1. Introduction 

This implementation plan for community wealth building in Dublin 

City Council has been co-created with the city council’s cross-

departmental community wealth building working group. The plan 

sets out themes and priorities to be progressed over an 18-month 

timeframe. These are the first steps to developing and embedding a 

community wealth building approach in the city council, providing a 

foundation from which the council can build. 

The plan has been developed by the working group in a process facilitated by CLES 

including a series of one-to-one interviews and a community wealth building 

workshop held with the working group on 23rd February 2022. The working group 

will collectively lead on the delivery of the plan and champion the community 

wealth building agenda in Dublin. 

What is community wealth building? 

Community wealth building is a progressive approach to economics and economic 

development. It locks wealth and opportunity into the local economy, for the 

benefit of local people. This is done by harnessing the impact of locally rooted 

‘anchor institutions’1 to enable local economies to develop from within. It is a 

people and community centred approach to creating local economies that are 

more inclusive. The approach is built on the principle of collaboration and is 

implemented in an area through five key levers:  

Workforce - to deliver decent work and progression and positively influence the 

local labour market.  

Spending power – to maximise the social, economic, and environmental value of 

procurement and commissioning.  

Land and Property – to maximise the return on land and property assets for the 

benefit of local people and place.  

Finance – to ensure that flows of finance have benefit for local people and place 

through fiscal and other incentives.  

Ownership – to diversify the ownership of the economy including a broader 

understanding of how business support and land and property use can shift 

ownership of the economy towards locally-rooted, ethical businesses that lock in 

                                                        
1 The term ‘anchor institutions’ refers to organisations which have an important presence in a place, 

usually through a combination of being largescale employers, the largest purchasers of goods and 

services in the locality, controlling large areas of land and/or having relatively fixed assets. Examples 

include local authorities, hospitals, universities, colleges and housing associations. 

Page 20



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 4 

wealth to the local economy and create benefit for communities, for workers, and 

for place.   

Why is this agenda important to Dublin City Council? 

Like many international cities, Dublin is facing into a range of national and 

international challenges which will impact upon its future prosperity and resilience.  

Community wealth building provides a new lens through which to view the 

changing economic and social context and to understand how Dublin City Council 

can use its influence to shape and support the city’s economy in the longer term.   

Building a fairer economic recovery   

The pandemic has presented a unique set of challenges for cities across the world 

including how people live and work in cities, visitor markets, the role of nature 

(including green infrastructure and air pollution) as well as the implications for 

businesses, particularly those who have been impacted (both positively and 

negatively) by the crisis.  It has also revealed the seriousness of pre-existing 

inequalities within Irish cities like Dublin, with those from more disadvantaged 

communities being disproportionately affected by Covid-19.  This has been 

compounded by the structural challenges faced by many marginalised groups in 

Irish society, including people with disabilities, Travellers and people of colour.    

The pandemic has been a wakeup call in that it has revealed the flaws in the 

economic approach to date.  There is now an opportunity to revisit the economic 

strategy for the city and consider what could be done differently to create a more 

inclusive economy which speaks to the employment, skills and poverty challenges 

faced by some of the city’s residents, for example, by ensuring the Council’s 

spending power is focused on maximising social value and economic outcomes.  

Creating productive local economies   

The pandemic has hit many businesses hard, particularly those reliant upon Dublin 

City’s hospitality and tourism industry.  Footfall in the city centre on St Patrick’s day 

2020 decreased by more than 70% on the previous year2.  Similarly, Dublin is a city 

which benefits massively from the influx of international and domestic tourists with 

5.9m spending all or most of their stay in Dublin3.   

 In seeking to understand how the pandemic will change the city, the future 

direction of the economy will be key.  Community wealth building can provide the 

means to think differently about economic development including the role of 

business support, planning, inward investment, and enterprise development in 

order to help the city’s economy recover in a way that is generative and inclusive.    

                                                        
2  Source: https://www.irishtimes.com/news/consumer/dublin-city-footfall-plummets-due-to-
coronavirus-1.4209818 
3 Source: https://www.dublincity.ie/dublin-city-parks-strategy/2-parks-and-landscapes-
perspective/23-value-city-parks/236-tourism  

Page 21



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 5 

Diversifying the city’s dependence on international capital   

The significant growth of the land and property market in Dublin in recent decades 

has led to a transformation of the city’s built environment, much of which has been 

fuelled by international capital.  But it has also created challenges in terms of 

affordable housing supply, speculative investment in buy to let properties and 

gentrification in many of the city’s neighbourhoods. Community wealth building 

provides an opportunity to think differently about land and assets in the city and 

to consider how the flow of wealth from land and property assets can be best used 

to support local people. It starts with the assumption that you must build a better 

economy from within, using the assets and opportunities that already exist 

(including natural assets such as parks).  This could include delivering employment 

and training outcomes through the planning process, particularly on strategic 

regeneration sites.   

Leadership of the City Council 

A community wealth building approach will support the council to adapt and evolve 

in what is a challenging social and economic context, asserting the importance of 

the city’s economy nationally, but recognising the need for it to be fair and to work 

to improve outcomes for the most deprived communities, in line with City Council’s 

vision to be:  

“… a dynamic, sustainable city, that is future-ready, built on thriving, inclusive 

neighbourhoods and communities, a strong economy, a vibrant cultural life, 

and compact, connected growth”. 

The process will help the council to assert its role as an anchor institution and to 

use its influence more deliberately in the service of this more inclusive local 

economy. This 18-month implementation plan focuses initially on developing the 

Council’s own role as an anchor institution, building understanding, confidence, 

and impact. This will position the council well to use its convening and influencing 

power to engage other civic institutions in the city in the community wealth building 

process. 

The City Council is building on strong foundations, with lots of work already 

happening in this space. The community wealth building implementation process 

will serve to galvanise and bring this activity together – not as just another initiative, 

or project - but a durable and sustainable framework, integral to the council’s 

corporate processes and business planning. 

In so doing, Dublin City Council can position itself as a pioneer for community 

wealth building in Ireland, influencing the debate, not just with other local 

authorities and anchor institutions, but also the dynamics with central government, 

leveraging its position as Ireland’s capital city.  

Page 22



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 6 

2. Summary of the key 
themes and issues 
discussed at the 
workshop 

The context for community wealth building in Dublin 

Social and economic context 

Dublin has a unique social and economic context - a globally connected, 

international, capital city, it is the political, cultural, commercial, and financial 

centre of Ireland.  

Following the decline of its traditional manufacturing base since the 1970s and 

the recession of the 1980s, in more recent years inward investment has 

stimulated growth in the information technology, financial services, electronics, 

pharmaceuticals, and engineering sectors.  The city is an international financial 

centre, attracting significant global finance and capital. The city’s economy serves 

both domestic and international markets and is the key driver of economic 

performance regionally and nationally.  

Dublin is in many respects a city of contrasts where wealth and investment is 

juxtaposed with poverty and homelessness, including geographically, driven in 

part by gentrification, rising housing costs and lack of affordable housing supply. 

This context puts into even sharper focus for Dublin the importance of 

understanding the dynamics of wealth in the city’s economy – who generates 

wealth, where is it going, and who benefits from it? How can the wealth that flows 

into Dublin be retained and be more broadly held? How can the focus of 

economic development pivot to ensure that the everyday, foundational economy 

thrives alongside the pioneer economy of technology intensive, tradable sectors, 

ensuring good employment opportunities for all?  What role can the city council 

play in creating the preconditions for a new, more generative economy, where 

economic democracy and social innovation match the point value innovation of 

the high-tech sectors. 

Organisational context  

Organisationally, the city council is distinctive compared with other community 

wealth building places. As the largest local authority in Ireland it occupies a 

unique position in respect of both its funding and sources of income (for 

example, income derived through commercial rates) and in the power dynamics 

between the council and central government.  

Page 23



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 7 

As with other anchor institutions in Ireland, the city council exercises its functions 

in accordance with both national and European Union legislation.  

It is both a diverse organisation, with lots of functions, and a distributed one, with 

relatively high levels of autonomy in individual departments. The five areas focus 

means there is a geographical as well as functional dimension to this dynamic. 

This provides both opportunities and challenges for developing a community 

wealth building approach. The distributed nature of the organisation creates the 

conditions where small-scale pilots and prototypes can be rapidly developed and 

implemented, building confidence, and harnessing the learning needed to deploy 

these approaches at scale. However, it will require effective communication 

within and across the council to keep in view the bigger picture vision and 

objectives and ensure momentum, buy-in and corporate ownership. This will be a 

vital role for the working group moving forward.  

The city council is one of many anchor institutions in Dublin, so the long-term 

goal, following the period covered by this initial implementation plan, will be to 

use the city council’s growing expertise in community wealth building to influence 

other anchor institutions towards harnessing their collective power as economic 

agents. 

What does 'good' community wealth building look 
like in Dublin? 

In the workshop the group reflected on the key outcomes and success criteria for 

a community wealth building approach in Dublin. These were described in relation 

to the ways of working and approach of the city council and in terms of improved 

quality of life and outcomes for people on the Dublin area.  

Organisational outcomes People outcomes 

 That we learn as a group 

about new ideas and 

initiatives  

 Community wealth building is 

understood in Dublin City 

Council  

 Community wealth building 

becomes embedded in the 

day-to-day business of Dublin 

City Council  

 Greater co-operation and 

communication between 

Dublin City Council 

Departments  

 That we clarify what we are 

trying to achieve  

 Clear measurable targets with 

tangible outcomes 

 That people see how Dublin is 

getting better as a place to 

live, more cycling, more social 

cohesion, more involvement 

by people in decisions that 

matter to them  

 The lives of our citizens are 

improved and enriched  

 Personal success stories and 

development of micro 

business to SMEs  

 Dublin your city process - 

reflect on what we mean by 

wealth?  

 Citizens have a stake in the 

economy, feel that it's 

something they can 

participate in  

 Using assets to give the 

community what they actually 

Page 24



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 8 

Organisational outcomes People outcomes 

 That we set a few ambitious 

targets and track and 

communicate progress  

 That we have a clear plan, and 

we can chart progress and 

effectively communicate it  

 That we have some great 

stories that are told as part of 

this process  

 That we have greater insights 

into the impact of our 

organisation and how we work 

with others  

 Identify objectives in business 

plans which fit into community 

wealth building  

 Linked to priorities in 

Corporate Plan and other 

strategic documents  

 Expansion and resourcing of 

existing successful 

programmes  

need, not what we think they 

need  

 Improved responses in Your 

Dublin Your Voice survey  

 Having people with the right 

skills to employ in roles e.g., 

stonecutting  

 That each person has choices 

and can realise their potential  

 That we buy goods and 

services from more local micro 

enterprises and SME's  

 Greater wellbeing of citizens, 

not just wealth  

 

 

Draft statement of purpose for the working group 

The community wealth building working group within Dublin City Council brings 

people together from across the Council to explore how community wealth 

building can be used to support the city council’s strategic priorities in the short 

and longer term.   This working group will do this in a number of ways: 

 Champion community wealth building as a strategic approach to the 

Council’s work, becoming advocates and champions for a community 

wealth building approach to our work within the city council.    

 Map existing initiatives of CWB in the City and evaluate the potential 

for future development 

 Disrupt/provoke:  Start a conversation about how a community 

wealth building approach can be mobilised to change and improve 

outcomes for city council residents 

 Action planning: Bringing existing activity together under the 

umbrella of a community wealth building programme, developing 

new pilots and area-based activity, and thinking about the delivery 

of new initiatives through community wealth building lens  

The key principles which will guide the approach of the working group during the 

period of this implementation plan are:  

Page 25



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 9 

 Build on what’s already happening – recognising that there is already a 

great deal of work going on within the council that can be understood as 

community wealth building, and which provides a platform from which 

progress can be accelerated. 

 Be ambitious and think differently – whilst the implementation plan 

needs to be achievable, the working group has a key role in ensuring that 

there are genuine opportunities to think creatively and to challenge existing 

norms, being ambitious for what can be achieved, and keeping in view the 

bigger picture and vision of a fairer and more inclusive economy. 

 Everyone does something – the working group has a role as a collective 

in guiding and managing the community wealth building agenda in Dublin 

City Council, but each member of the group also has an individual 

responsibility to ensure their departments are actively engaged in 

delivering against the identified actions in the implementation plan. 

Key concerns and reasons to be cheerful 

The workshop discussion was used to surface key concerns and reasons to be 

cheerful. These are reproduced below, along with a commentary about how these 

issues have been considered in developing the implementation plan. 

Key concern How will this be addressed? 

We're all busy - how do we carve out 

the time? Who is going to lead on 

actions? 

Key to this will be integrating 

community wealth building thinking 

and practice into the day job. The 

workshop discussions highlighted the 

wealth of existing practice that can be 

brought within a community wealth 

building frame, and which provides 

the existing foundations from which 

to build on. 

 

In taking forward the implementation 

plan it will be important that every 

member of the group takes 

responsibility for some of the actions 

– this is captured in the proposed 

principles in the statement of purpose 

for the working group, above. 

 

Ambition - not too elaborate to start 

off with. Start small - pilot – scale. 

Don't try to run before we walk. 

The implementation plan is aimed at 

getting the foundations in place for 

community wealth building practice in 

the city council. These are the first 

steps for what can realistically be 

Page 26



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 10 

Key concern How will this be addressed? 

achieved in an eighteen-month 

timeframe. 

 

The implementation plan focuses on 

opportunities for small-scale pilots 

and area-based activity which can be 

used to build confidence prior to 

spreading and scaling. 

 

Resource / capacity concerns - e.g., if 

procurement is a central feature. 

Whilst the central procurement 

function will have a role, the 

responsibility for spending and use of 

resources sits right across the 

organisation.   

 

The proposed social value framework 

for Dublin City Council will be a tool to 

guide this activity in all departments. 

 

Important to get other people on 

board - link to Business Plans. 

This has been captured in the actions 

under the objective to ‘embed 

community wealth building within the 

corporate approach of the city 

council’. 

 

Development of communications tool. Effective communication is a core 

feature of the implementation plan 

and will be an important role for the 

working group. 

 

Need external support to help us 

implement it going forward. 

Bringing in external support to assist 

and to act as a critical friend during 

the implementation plan period would 

certainly be beneficial. CLES would be 

delighted to continue working with 

Dublin City Council in this regard, and 

could offer bespoke support – for 

example, in relation to developing the 

social value framework, integrating 

community wealth building into 

strategic planning activity, spend 

analysis, recruitment analysis, and 

mapping of land and property assets. 

 

Page 27



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 11 

Key concern How will this be addressed? 

How we merge our roles into an 

effective group - become greater than 

sum of parts. 

The working group is already more 

than the sum of its parts, with energy, 

commitment, and an obvious desire to 

think beyond departmental silos. It 

will be important to maintain this 

focus going forward. 

 

Does it need a full-time post to drive it 

forward? 

We have recommended that the 

working group look to secure 

commitment for administrative 

support in the first instance.  

 

Do we need to develop new tools or 

systems - make part of digital 

transformation - better real time 

information?  

Quality of data is not good - held in 

silos. 

Capacity for analysis will need to 

develop over time. 

These issues will no doubt surface 

during the ‘build understanding’ 

components of the implementation 

plan. 

 

There will be opportunities to start 

simply and to consider how to align 

data most important to the 

community wealth building work with 

any existing city council plans for 

digital transformation. 

 

 

Reason to be cheerful How will this be addressed? 

Highlighting the existing work we are 

already doing! 

This is vital and, as mentioned above, 

provides good foundations to build 

from. 

  

A willing coalition - lots of ideas and 

enthusiasm. 

We all agree this is a really good idea 

CLES has been impressed by the 

energy, commitment, and enthusiasm 

of the working group – to have such 

genuine, cross-departmental 

commitment from the outset bodes 

well for the future. 

 

Engagement with the LCDC and 

Preparation of the Local Economic 

Community Plan. 

This has been captured in the actions 

under the objective to ‘embed 

community wealth building within the 

corporate approach of the city 

council’. 

 

Page 28



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 12 

Reason to be cheerful How will this be addressed? 

Hearing about European and other 

locations examples - it can be done! 

Opportunity for us to learn from each 

other and other cities. 

This is key to building confidence. As 

part of the community wealth building 

family, Dublin will be welcome to join 

CLES’ communities of practice to 

continue to share experiences with, 

and learn from, other areas. 

 

Procurement is everybody's friend!! 😊 

Link community wealth building with 

the civic crowd-funding project. 

This can be part of the pilot approach. 

Dublin City Council as a champion and 

cheerleader. 

There is a real opportunity for Dublin 

to position itself as a pioneer for 

community wealth building in Ireland. 

 

 

Mapping of existing activity and gaps 

The implementation plan has been informed by the mapping of existing activity 

and gaps undertaken during the workshop - see Appendix 1. 

  

Page 29



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 13 

3. Draft implementation 
plan 

The draft implementation plan sets out proposed high-level actions against five 

linked objectives: 

 

 

 

1. Develop a social value framework for Dublin City Council. 

 

A social value framework is a tool to assist decision making for anyone in the city 

council with responsibility for spending resources. This includes anyone involved 

in recruiting new members of staff, buying goods, services and works, designing 

services (commissioning), or managing the city council’s assets.  

The starting point will be to establish the economic, social, and environmental 

outcomes that are most important to the city council, drawing on existing policy 

priorities and known challenges, then translating these into a small number of 

priority outcomes with associated indicators and measures.  

This process will be an opportunity to start to think differently about measures of 

success with health, wellbeing and community indicators developed to 

complement existing economic indicators.  

The framework can be applied using small-scale pilot activity initially (see 

Objective 3) to build confidence in the model. 

Page 30



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 14 

The framework will be a cross-departmental tool, designed to shift the 

organisational culture so that greater benefits are delivered for the Dublin 

economy and its people. This cannot happen overnight. Social value is not one 

person’s job - it can be created by each and every Dublin City Council employee, 

and through all of the city council’s spending and activity.    

The actions under this objective relate, therefore, not only to the development 

and use of the framework, but the wider actions needed to support the desired 

shift in culture, for example in relation to communications, leadership, and 

training. 

2. Strengthen the city council’s strategic capacity to act and deliver. 

Actions under this objective relate to the role of the community wealth building 

working group in championing community wealth building as a strategic 

approach in Dublin City Council and exploiting the potential to develop 

community wealth building practice. The group will have a key role in ensuring 

that a wide range of disparate activity is pulled together within an overarching 

community wealth building frame and effectively communicated as such. 

This will involve building on current initiatives (the existing activities captured in 

the mapping exercise undertaken during the workshop), and by applying a 

community wealth building lens to any new opportunities and challenges which 

emerge.  

Working group members will take responsibility for communicating about 

community wealth building in relation to their own areas of work and with other 

partners both internally and externally (keeping it simple and thinking about 

language and messaging that works for Dublin’s context). 

3. Build confidence by using pilots and area-based action to demonstrate 

the model. 

The discussions during the workshop revealed that there is already a great deal of 

work going on within the council that could be understood as community wealth 

building but which to date, has been seen as linked to departmental or area-

based priorities.  The community wealth building agenda provides an overarching 

frame with which to pull together examples of existing or emerging practice in 

order to illustrate the strengths of the council in this area to date, identify 

opportunities to spread and scale, and to help explain the concept using existing 

examples from the Council’s work.   

The workshop discussions also surfaced a number of examples of projects or 

ideas still in development where there is significant scope to apply a community 

wealth building approach to help develop and support project outcomes longer 

term.  

Finally, there are some of the community wealth building levers which are 

relatively under-developed in a Dublin context. Here, there are opportunities to 

build confidence in the community wealth building approach by starting with a 

number of new, small, discrete pilot projects to test the concept – looking for 

early wins and opportunities. 

Page 31



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 15 

These pilots provide an opportunity to test specific aspects of community wealth 

building practice which, although small-scale to begin with, can foreshadow what 

could be done to stimulate more significant changes in the Dublin economy – for 

example: 

 Using the public sector spending power to support and stimulate the 

growth of generative businesses in the everyday, foundational economy, 

ensuring that good jobs and opportunities are available beyond the tech-

focused, pioneer sectors. 

 How different approaches to asset and land ownership can act as a 

counterweight to rising cost of living and housing costs. 

 How more social value can be derived from inward investment and wealth 

flows into the city. 

4. Build understanding. 

The fourth objective is to build understanding of the council's economic role – 

through, for example, spend analysis, recruitment analysis, and mapping of land 

and property assets. 

These actions will provide a baseline of information which can be used to 

influence future community wealth building priorities and monitor progress over 

time. 

5. Embed community wealth building within the corporate approach of the 

city council. 

An important objective for this initial implementation plan is to ensure that 

community wealth building is adopted as an integral part of the corporate 

processes of the city council - linked to priorities in the Corporate Plan and other 

strategic documents and reflected in objectives in business plans. 

There are also opportunities for the council to use its influence as the capital city 

and largest local authority in Ireland, to use community wealth building as a 

frame in its discussions with central government. 

Collectively, the objectives and the proposed actions listed below, will help secure 

the first stages of the city council’s community wealth building work, providing the 

initial foundations from which a more ambitious programme can be developed, 

including seeking to engage and influence other key anchor intuitions in the city. 

 

Actions Timeframe 

1. Develop a social value framework for Dublin City Council. 

a) Agree the principles which will guide the 

development and adoption of the social value 

framework. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

b) Convene a stakeholder discussion to agree 

relevant social, economic, and environmental 

outcomes. These will be informed by existing 

policy and by local needs analysis – including, 

for example, holistic frameworks such as the UN 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

Page 32



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 16 

Sustainable Development Goals and relevant 

data on wellbeing and deprivation – and could 

also include an area-based dimension. 

c) Prioritise a small number of outcomes. 2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

d) Establish relevant baselines and agree a 

measurement framework. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

e) Test out through small-scale pilots (see 

Objective 3), review and refine. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

f) Training - Pursuant to the idea that social value 

is for everyone, there should be a programme 

of ongoing training that embeds social value 

across the organisation. Doing this in 

consultation with the workforce will be a further 

opportunity to examine what is already being 

done but perhaps not currently framed in the 

language of social value. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

g) Leadership – consider adopting and publicising 

a statement of intent for Dublin City Council’s 

approach to social value 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

2. Strengthen the city council’s strategic capacity to act and 

deliver. 

a) Formalise the governance arrangements for the 

community wealth building programme – 

including the role of the working group and 

senior management and political responsibility. 

This should include:  

 Agree final wording for the ‘statement of 

purpose’. 

 Agree a meeting schedule for the next 6-12 

months. 

 Secure buy in for administrative support to 

help arrange meetings and co-ordinate 

diaries for the working group. 

 Review and agree the implementation plan  

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

b) Update the Senior Management Team and 

Strategic Policy Committee and agree a system of 

reporting back on progress and on opportunities 

to advance a community wealth building 

approach in Dublin City Council. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

Page 33



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 17 

c) Update the Area Committees and use these 

sessions to explore opportunities for area-based 

pilots. 

d) Arrange a series of information sessions with 

staff from across the council to explain more 

about community wealth building and to raise 

awareness of the approach across the council 

(including with the corporate communications 

team). 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

e) Members of the working group to become 

‘champions for the approach within their own 

work.  

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

f) Provide an inclusive forum for people to learn 

more about community wealth building and to 

share experiences and learning. Continue to 

harness and share examples of where 

community wealth building work is already being 

taken forward. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

g) Work with the communications team to explore 

integration of community wealth building into 

our messaging externally and internally. This 

could include a timebound mapping exercise, 

including the development of a communications 

strategy, identifying what is needed in order to 

influence key stakeholders (internally and 

externally) on the merits of this initiative. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

3. Build confidence by using pilots and area-based action to 

demonstrate the model. 

Harnessing existing activities as community wealth 

building pilots, including: 

Workforce 

 Planned pilot initiative to diversify the 

workforce - targeting younger people in 

disadvantaged areas to access 

apprenticeship opportunities. 

 Outreach work to promote engineering as a 

profession, especially for younger women. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

Page 34



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 18 

 Supporting employment through the Local 

Enterprise Offices. 

Spending 

Current contracts where spending is delivering 

against social value outcomes, including: 

 Apprenticeship programmes in key trades. 

 Breaking down contracts into smaller lots to 

facilitate micro-companies and sole traders.  

 Community gain from development (e.g., 

community employment scheme on 

construction skills). 

Land and property 

Use of council buildings and spaces to facilitate 

additional social value, including: 

 Work with Young Social Innovators 

 Allowing temporary use of land and buildings 

for local events, markets, etc. 

 Use of space at a peppercorn rent to cultural 

and creative organisations and social 

enterprises. 

 Staff volunteering. 

Inclusive ownership 

 Support and finance for micro-enterprises. 

 Support for social enterprises and area 

partnership working to support social 

enterprises to form consortia 

 St. Andrews Resource Centre – gardening 

services to Google. 

These existing or planned initiatives represent a 

significant spread of activity of direct relevance to the 

community wealth building agenda.  

The working group will need to engage with these 

activities so that they start to be seen through a 

community wealth building lens and as contributing 

to the overall vision for community wealth building in 

Dublin. The working group may wish to consider a 

light-touch process whereby it is updated on 

Page 35



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 19 

progress and has the opportunity to discuss how the 

pilot activity could be enhanced or flexed from a 

community wealth building perspective.   

Q4 review of existing activities to discuss where pilot 

activity foreshadows what more could be possible 

were the concept to be applied more broadly and 

opportunities and tactics needed to spread and 

scale. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

New pilot activities will be focused on those 

community wealth building levers which are 

currently less well developed in Dublin City Council, 

as well as being informed by the priority outcomes 

identified during the development of the social value 

framework: 

Workforce 

 Developing a better understanding of how 

housing costs and wider pressures on cost of 

living create barriers for lower paid staff. 

Spending / Inclusive Ownership 

 Explore and develop opportunities to use 

spending below the EU procurement 

threshold to support micro, SME, and social 

enterprise businesses. The focus of this pilot 

will be informed by the spend analysis and 

social value framework but will include a 

process of engaging potential suppliers to co-

design an approach. 

 Explore the potential, through a small-scale 

pilot, to connect community benefits and 

social clauses to help finance social 

enterprises (informed by the platform 

approach developed in Rotterdam). 

 Pilot the inclusion of living wage 

requirements in purchasing in a small 

number of contracts. 

Land and property 

 Identify a planned regeneration initiative and 

begin to scope options and opportunities to 

apply the social value framework. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

Page 36



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 20 

 Scope options for a small-scale pilot 

approach to community ownership of 

development land as a demonstrator project. 

 

4. Build understanding. 

a) Spend analysis – carry out, or commission, an 

analysis of the most recent full years spend 

data. This analysis will illustrate where spending 

is going geographically, by sector, and by 

supplier-type. 

 

The process will establish a baseline and will 

help identify additional opportunities where 

spending could be flexed in support of the social 

value priorities identified by the council. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

b) Recruitment analysis - to explore the city 

council’s contribution as a progressive 

employer. This would include analysing the 

representativeness of the workforce in relation 

to the makeup of the local community and 

opportunities where recruitment practice could 

be flexed to further enhance local resilience and 

deliver wider value. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

c) Analysis of wealth flows and consumer spending 

data to understand where wealth is currently 

flowing to more extractive parts of the local 

economy, so that business support activity 

could be flexed to stimulate more generative 

alternatives. 

 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

d) Mapping of land and property assets- to assess 

the scope to which these could be further 

harnessed to deliver additional social value. 

 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

5. Embed community wealth building within the corporate 

approach of the city council. 

Explore ways to promote and integrate community 

wealth building as part of our business planning and 

integrate it into our corporate plans and processes. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

Page 37



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 21 

Ensure community wealth building principles 

underpin the development of the Local Economic 

Community Plan. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

Explore the interest in community wealth building 

from a national perspective. 

2022/23 2023/24 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

 

 

  

Page 38



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 22 

 

4. Appendix 1 – Mapping 
of existing activities 
and gaps 

 

Finance 

○ Current activities 

 Good data on wealth flows and consumer spending - e.g. 

MasterCard / Smart Cities 

 Existing programmes with HSE for community health in the areas 

of heart, elderly care etc 

○ Gaps and challenges 

 Budgets and resources 

 ‘New initiative fatigue’ 

 Need to improve communication of existing work – e.g., SICAP 

funding flows to area partnerships  

○ Opportunities 

 Use exiting connections and networks to introduce new schemes 

 Initiate financial literacy workshops in City of Dublin Education 

and Training Board 

 

Workforce 

○ Current activities 

 Partnerships with Community Colleges in relation to focused 

training for sports workforce 

 Planned pilot initiative to diversify the workforce - targeting 

younger people in disadvantaged areas to access apprenticeship 

opportunities 

 Graduate programme 

 Outreach to promote engineering as a profession, especially for 

young women 

 Traineeship programmes to upskill and prepare for employment 

Page 39



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 23 

 Supporting employment through the Local Enterprise Offices - 7% 

net growth in employment last year across LEO client portfolio 

 Return to Learning Programme 

○ Gaps and challenges 

 Pressure on current resource needs for day-to-day service delivery  

 Housing costs and cost of living creates barriers for lower paid 

workforce 

 Recognised need to increase diversity of the workforce 

○ Opportunities 

 DCC is a significant employer with a workforce of c. 6,000 

 Shifts to hybrid working 

 New jobs that will be created in the circular economy 

 A digitised workplace may provide more opportunities to 

introduce mentoring and other programmes to support other 

organisations 

 

Spending 

○ Current activities 

 Property maintenance framework split into 5 lots 

 Spending supports apprenticeship programmes in key trades, 

includes a gender focus 

 Break down contracts into lots to facilitate micro companies and 

sole traders 

 Community gain from development, for example community 

employment scheme around construction skills  

○ Gaps and challenges 

 Need a consistent economic inclusion lens applied to spending 

 Concerns about risk / legal challenge to procurement decisions 

 Consolidation leads to compliance but maybe not best social 

outcomes 

○ Opportunities 

 Host meet the buyer events with social enterprises to inform local 

suppliers of contract opportunities and upskill on public sector 

tendering  

 Below EU procurement threshold there is the opportunity to 

engage micro/SME/social business 

 £1.1 bn annual revenue spend 

 Transition to low carbon 

Page 40



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 24 

 Living wage requirement in purchasing 

 Look at ways to help finance social enterprises, for example 

Rotterdam are developing a platform where social clauses can be 

used to fund individual social enterprise job creation initiatives 

 

 

Land and property 

○ Current activities 

 Connectivity recognised as important - moving towards 15-minute 

city concept 

 Large direct labour workforce 

 Partnership approach through recreation centres with youth 

outreach, men's sheds, community training etc 

 Work with Young Social Innovators who work with second level 

students on effecting positive change on issues, they are keen to 

use council buildings and spaces for events 

 Allowing temporary use of land and buildings for local events, 

markets etc subject to planning 

 Planning zoning for development - e.g., Ikea, Decathlon, new 

housing development 

 Infrastructure: a key aim is creating and shaping the built 

environment to facilitate building local communities. 

○ Gaps and challenges 

 Wealth flows from inwards investment  

 Currently don’t celebrate or communicate the provision of space 

at peppercorn rent to cultural and creative organisations and 

social enterprises 

 Listing of all properties in the ownership of DCC currently being 

used by Community Organisations 

 Affordability of housing - to buy or rent 

 Investment needed to improve derelict areas in less wealthy parts 

of the city 

○ Opportunities 

 Ask to host CWB events in the spaces provided by DCC - e.g.  

Delight Studios, Little Museum of Dublin, Coleraine Street Depot 

 Ownership of development land 

 Significant physical assets, including in more deprived 

communities 

 Parks and open spaces 

Page 41



 

Community wealth building in Dublin 25 

 Significant investment to improve landscape and cityscape 

 Strategic development sites 

 

Inclusive Ownership 

○ Current activities 

 Support and finance for micro-enterprises 

 Support to social enterprises 

 Volunteering promoted among staff 

 National policy for social enterprise development 

 Community development teams in each area, enterprise officers 

in some areas 

 Area partnerships working to support social enterprises to form 

consortia 

 St. Andrews Resource Centre - gardening services to Google 

 Mastercard partnership  

○ Gaps and challenges 

 Connecting social enterprise to DCC spending 

 We are members of the European Social Economy Regions and 

can participate in this work, share examples of good practice 

 We can explore EU projects that would advance our objectives 

 How to scale or replicate good practice examples 

 Lack of commercial expertise in some parts of the social 

enterprise sector 

 Resources/capacity to sustain community activity 

 Start-ups want to serve international not domestic market 

○ Opportunities 

 Mastercard partnership presents opportunities to work with them 

to develop/shape projects 

 Opportunities to develop the night-time economy 

 Good links to large private sector companies with track record on 

CSR, but more can be done to push these organisations to provide 

more social value 

 Social enterprise response to the pandemic 

 Map good CSR projects and explore if they can be scaled 

 Work with communities which don't have an enterprise culture 

Page 42



 

 

Centre for Local Economic Strategies 

CLES, 52 Oak Street, Swan Square 

Manchester, United Kingdom, M4 5JA 

info@cles.org.uk | www.cles.org.uk 

@CLESthinkdo | #clesthinkdo 

0161 832 7871 

 

Page 43



Rainscapes
N A T U R E - B A S E D  S O L U T I O N S  F O R  

S T O R M W A T E R  M A N A G E M E N T

John Stack, Senior Executive Engineer, 
Protection of Water Bodies Office

P
age 44



Agenda

• What is the Rainscapes project?

• What are Rainscapes?

• Why Rainscapes?

• Proposals

• Next steps

• Further information

P
age 45



What is the Rainscapes project?

A pilot project to retrofit and 
study Nature-Based Solutions 

(NBS) in the public realm

To measure the capacity 
of NBS to:

• Reduce pluvial flooding 
(flooding from rainfall)

• Reduce pollution load 
discharging to rivers (from 
urban runoff)

• Improve biodiversity/ecology 
within the public realm

• Add aesthetic and amenity 
value to the public realm

P
age 46



What are 
Rainscapes?

• A form of Nature-Based Solution

• Adapted green space or other 

surfaces designed to temporarily 

hold rainwater

• Has potential to deliver additional 

benefits

P
age 47



Why Rainscapes

• Sustainably manage pluvial flood risk 

in dense, urban areas

• Can reduce impact of urban runoff 

on our rivers, beaches, coastal waters

• Can deliver multiple/additional 

benefits over and above storm water 

management

P
age 48



Sites
• Originally 9 sites selected within Santry and Dodder 

catchments

• Initial stakeholder consultation in May 2021

• Reduced to 4 following detailed site assessment and 

initial stakeholder consultation

• One additional site added (collaboration with Parks 

and Roads Departments)

• Dodder Catchment

Milltown Road

Eglinton Road

Herbert Cottages

Simmonscourt Road

• Santry

Dunree Park

McAuley-Ribh-Lein

Springdale Road

Brookvale

Lein Gardens

• Montpelier Hill

P
age 49



Milltown RoadP
age 50



Location

P
age 51



Catchment

P
age 52



Proposal
5 x Raingarden

Swale

Natural Outfall to 
River

2 x Rainwater 
Basins

Informal Play

Footbridge

P
age 53



Street View

P
age 54



Eglinton RoadP
age 55



Location

P
age 56



Catchment

P
age 57



Proposal
Bioretention 
Raingarden

Porous Asphalt 
Cycle Track

Porous Paved 
Parking Spaces

Tree Trench

P
age 58



Tree Trench

P
age 59



Street View

P
age 60



Next Steps

• Q2, 2023 – Stakeholder Consultation

• Q2, 2023 – S.38 or Part 8

• Q3/4, 2023 to Q2, 2024 – Construction

• 2024 – 2025 – Monitoring Programme

• Q1, 2026 – Final Report

*approximate/anticipated timeline

P
age 61



More information

• River Santry and River Dodder Rainscapes | Dublin City Council

• wfd@dublincity.ie

P
age 62

https://www.dublincity.ie/ga/node/8785
mailto:wfd@dublincity.ie


Thank you

Q U E S T I O N S ?

P
age 63



Page 1 of 1

Item Enquiry SP Ref Road PostTopic Request Description SecRequest ByTag Result Tag Comments Received

31/01/2023
South East Area - TAG Meeting Minutes for Noting

(Area Committee Date: 13/02/2023)
3 Items

1 7023795 BELGRAVE AVENUE
(SE)

Dublin 6P&D Parking
(Extend Area)

At rear entrance to 1, 2 and 3
Belgrave Villas, on Belgrave
Avenue where double yellow line
ends.- To start of double yellow
lines approximately opposite
junction of Belgrave Square and
Belgrave Avenue

0Member of
the Public

Recommended Accepted at ballot of residents, introduce Pay & Display & Permit
Parking Mon-Fri 08.00-18.30. 3 on register, 1 vote for returned.

23/11/2021

2 7027936 RINGSEND PARK
(SE)

Dublin 4Disab Park Bay
Residential

outside 76 1Member of
the Public

Recommended Disabled Parking Bay recommended.  STAT: install disabled
parking bay on the north side of Ringsend Park, starting from the
boundary line between house no. 75 & 76, extending in westward
direction for a distance of 6m

15/07/2022

3 7031243 RATHMINES ROAD
LOWER (SE)

Dublin 6Bus Stop
Infrastructure

Change Operational Days of the
Loading Bays

0InternalRecommended Change the days of operation for the loading bay south of Lamp
Standard No. 24 to include Saturday and Sunday. Change to
0700-1900 Monday-Sunday (currently 0700-1900 Monday-Friday).
Change the days of operation for the loading bay north of Lamp
Standard No. 29 to include Saturday and Sunday. Change to
0700-1900 Monday-Sunday (currently 0700-1900 Monday-Friday).

24/01/2023

P
age 64



1 
 

 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
HELD ON MONDAY 9 JANUARY 2023 

 
 

 
 
1   Presentation on Clonskeagh to City Centre Interim Walking & Cycling Scheme. 

Order: Noted.  
 

 

2   Presentation on Trinity to Ballsbridge Interim Walking & Cycling Scheme. 
Order: Noted.  
 

 

3   Minutes of the South East Area Committee meeting held on 12 December 2022 
Order: Agreed.  
 

 

4   South East Area Matters 
 

i. Report of the Director of Services. 
Order: Noted.  

 
ii. Report on Proposal to Name a Development at York Road as Thomas 

Clarke House. 
Order: Deferred to February South East Area Committee meeting.  

 
iii. Nomination of a member to replace Cllr. Kevin Donoghue on the South 

Inner City Local Drugs and Alcohol Task Force.  
Order: Cllr. James Geoghegan selected.  

 

 

5   Motions 9 January 2023 
 
Motion 1 from Councillor Dermot Lacey 
Recognising its potential to be a real urban village at the heart of the city this 
Committee requests the Planning Department to commence a discussion leading 
to a proactive plan on the core Upper Baggot Street area. 
Order: Report to Councillor.  
 
Motion 2 from Councillor Pat Dunne 
This area committee asks that the reply to motion 7 (see below) from the July 2021 
area committee meeting be acted upon without delay. 
  

“Motion 7 from Councillors Pat Dunne, Carolyn Moore and Tara Deacy  
That this Area Committee recognises the opportunity to greatly improve the 
public domain entrance to Eamonn Ceannt Park at the Rutland Grove, as 
part of the Part 8 development of a new depot.   
  

 

Page 65



2 
 

We commend Parks Management for their engagement with local residents 
and ask that the observations of those residents be fully considered as part 
of the development.   
  
We also refer to Part 8 Ref 176/2007 for the pavilions which included the 
provision of 30 new car parking spaces and is still valid. These car parking 
spaces have still not been provided and this is causing ongoing issues for 
local residents with illegal and dangerous parking. We now ask that the 
provision of legal parking spaces be included as part of the depot 
development, that cycle parking is provided, that enforcement of illegal 
parking is increased, and that the public realm improvements at the 
entrance be also included.  
  
We believe that this is a once in a lifetime opportunity to enhance this 
section of the park and will support any necessary increase in the funding 
allocated to this project to achieve these objectives.  
  
Report:  
Provision will be included in the 2022 draft estimates for the engagement of 
an engineering consultant to prepare plans for car parking at Rutland Grove. 
This will include a review of the plans that were submitted in the Part 8 Ref 
176/2007.  
  
Contact: 
Leslie Moore, Head of Parks, Biodiversity and Landscape Services.” 

Order: Agreed.  
 
Motion 3 from Councillor Pat Dunne 
Given it will be the 125th anniversary of the birth of Herbert Simms in November 
2023 can we arrange that a fitting tribute is designed and erected to celebrate his 
contribution to housing in Dublin.  Can we look at an area like Crumlin, with very 
little public art statues or commemorations as it was an area completely designed 
and influenced by Simms architecture? 
Order: Agreed.  
 
Motion 4 from Councillor Pat Dunne 
Given that provision has been made in the Capital Budget for the development of 
a new Crumlin / Drimnagh library on the former Ard Scoil Eanna site on the Crumlin 
Road, can we in advance of its development look at celebrating some of the 
renowned local writers (Brown, Behan etc.) in the naming of the new library or areas 
within it? 
Order: Agreed. 
 
Motion 5 from Councillor James Geoghegan 
That the South East Area committee; 
 

 agrees that Dublin City Council shall lead a Dublin Bay south east area 
taskforce which would comprise officials from the Office of Public Works, 
Irish Water, the NTA, Eirgrid and any other relevant state body who is 
currently, or will be, carrying out public infrastructure works on the Strand 
Road, the Strand or neighbouring areas over the next 5-10 years; 

 agrees that community representatives would be members of this taskforce; 
 agrees that local public representatives would be ex-officio members of the 

taskforce and entitled to attend relevant meetings; 
 acknowledges that the Office of Public Works have already agreed to be 

members of this proposed taskforce; 

Page 66



3 
 

 recognises the urgent need for a cross-agency approach to both the design 
and implementation of the flood relief works for Sandymount.  

Order: Agreed.  
 
Motion 6 from Councillor Mary Freehill  
That we arrange an  onsite meeting with residents of Kenilowrth Lane to discuss 
the issues listed 1 to 10 below: 
 

1. Resurface the road 
2. Review double yellow lines 
3. Cut back overhanging trees and brambles 
4. Add speed bumps 
5. Improve street lighting on East end of lane 
6. Add a mirror at the blind corner of South/East 
7. Residents parking on Kenilworth Lane South 
8. Paint yellow box at West end of the lane 
9. Remove graffiti 
10. Remove traffic cones 
11. Install CCTV on Kenilworth South Lane 
12. Regular weed clean-up 
13. Abandoned/untaxed vehicles 
14. Bins left out on the lane 
15. Builders debris on the lane 
16. Bin collectors spilling rubbish on the lane  

Order: Report to Councillor.  
 

6   Questions to the Chief Executive 9 January 2023 
Order: Noted. 
 

 

 
Councillor Dermot Lacey 
Chairperson 
Monday 9 January 2023 
 

 
Attendance: 
 
Members:  
Dermot Lacey (Chairperson) 
Claire Byrne    Danny Byrne   Hazel Chu 
Deirdre Conroy   Daniel Céitinn   Tara Deacy 
Kevin Donoghue   Pat Dunne   Mannix Flynn   
Mary Freehill    James Geoghegan  Paddy McCartan 
Carolyn Moore    Claire O’Connor  
 
Officers:  
Mark Ginnetty   Brian Hanney   Leah Johnston 
John MacEvilly   Karl Mitchell   Fiona O’Brien 
Neil O’Donoghue   Éanna Mac Cana   Gráinne O’Brien 
Gerard Claffey   Niall Kinsella   
 
Apologies: 
Anne Feeney 
 
Non-Members: 
Philip Lee, AECOM.  

  

Page 67



4 
 

Question to City Manager  South East Area Committee 
  Meeting 9th January 2023 
 
Q.1 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to respond to the following issue from a constituent.  
 
He writes: 
“I am seeking your assistance in resolving a perennial problem – the inability of Dublin City 
Council to deal effectively with annual leaf fall in our area.  As the number of street trees is 
increasing the situation is getting worse each year.  A prime example is Temple Road where 
the combination of the uncollected leaves and rain becomes a sodden mulch on the footpath 
and roadside making them difficult and dangerous to traverse.  At the time of writing 
(7th December) the next scheduled street cleaning is 7 weeks away (end of January). 
 
This is an unacceptable level of service and makes a mockery of the purported frequency 
detailed on DCC website as follows: 
 

Category Area description 
Sweeping 
Frequency 

Category 
A 

Main city centre streets, high footfall locations (Grafton Street 
or O’Connell Street). 

Daily + 

Category 
B 

Other high footfall locations: Suburban villages, main bus route 
into city centre. 

Daily 

Category 
C 

Medium footfall: Residential locations. Weekly 

  
Temple road is the main access route the Milltown LUAS stop for the large surrounding 
population which includes 1,000 plus students in Trinity Hall and 400 plus students attending 
Alexandra College.  Using the criteria in table above would qualify Temple Road for daily 
road the sweeping based on the number of pedestrians using the route.  The volume of 
leaves and the structure of the road make it impractical for residents to deal with the issue 
themselves. 
 
This failure to deal with the problems also results in blocked drains and consequent flooding. 
 
I appreciate that resources are tight and that this a seasonal problem but this can be resolved 
by either redeploying parks staff who may not be as busy at this time of year or staff from 
water and drainage section – this would be prevent call outs to clear blocked drains.” 
 
Reply:  
Waste Management Services operate a leaf clearing programme citywide over the autumn 
and winter months. Priority is given to tree-lined streets, footpaths with heavy pedestrian 
usage and areas particularly prone to flooding. We will ensure that Temple Road is cleared 
of leaves before this programme ends. We also will monitor litter levels there and arrange 
extra cleaning there between scheduled cleanings if deemed to be necessary. 

 
Q.2 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to respond to the issue raised in August 2022 by a constituent. 
She writes: 
 
"I live on Pembroke Road Ballsbridge, at the Lansdowne Hotel and Searsons end. Our 
problem is that this is the route taken by most people walking to the Aviva, and there’s not 
enough litter bins along this route for people to dispose of all the take away fast food 
containers, cans, bottles, glasses etc., so they throw them into our gardens or place them 
among the hedges etc.  I just heard they are resuming the American College football games 

Page 68



5 
 

for the Aviva this Sept., 16,000 people expected.  I can just imagine the amount of litter that’s 
going to end up on our lawns and street." 

 
Q.3 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report regarding the noise pollutants emanating from Dicey’s 
beer garden at Harcourt Street?  The noise coming from this premises is having a serious 
and detrimental impact on the health and well-being of the residents within the area including 
those in O’Carroll Villa, Mercer House and York Street apartments as well as residents closer 
to the premises on Harcourt Street.  This also include the residents at Grantham Street, 
Synge Street area.  
 
Reply 
The Air Quality Monitoring and Noise Control Unit is investigating complaints from residents 
in the area about music noise from Dicey’s.  
 
The complainants were forwarded details of a noise app this unit uses that allows 
complainants to submit recordings of the noise.  The recordings are verified by time and 
location.  
 
No nuisance was determined based on the submitted recordings.  
 
Monitoring was carried was carried out by officers of the unit on 02/06/2022 at night in the 
complainant’s premises (O’Carroll Villas).  The music was not audible and no nuisance was 
determined.  
 
Further attempts were made to arrange monitoring at the complainant’s premises which did 
not happen owing to the availability of officers and the complainant.   
 
Monitoring is arranged to take place on week two in January 2023. 
 
The unit received complaints from residents of O’Carroll Villas and Mercer Street.  If the 
contact details of other complainants are provided they will be contacted and included as 
complainants.   

 
Q.4 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager carry out a scoping exercise to identify an appropriate site within the South 
East Area that could work as a dedicated stand-alone skate board sports park? 
 
Reply: 
The South East Area Office in conjunction with Parks will arrange to carry out research into 
the needs of young people and the current skateboarding population in relation to creating 
urban spaces for activities that can meet the needs of a teenage cohort and possibly provide 
spaces for non-traditional sports? Councillors will be kept informed of progress on this. 

 
Q.5 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full update with regards progress on the Chocolate Park? 
 
Reply: 
An update was provided to the November area committee meeting, noting the Council’s 
current engagement with the Developer’s legal representatives with a view to progress a 
resolution to the complex title and boundary issues at this location.  It is not possible to 
provide a timeline for completion at this time however it is anticipated by early 2023 a clearer 
indication of the status of the title issues will be in place and the next planned actions can be 
advised to the members. 

 
Q.6 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report regarding the progress of the refurbishment of the  

Page 69



6 
 

children’s play area in Mercer House C Block. 
 
Reply 
A playground specialist company has been appointed to install the playground equipment 
here. It is expected that this will be installed in spring 2023. 

 
Q.7 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager initiate a full assessment of the York Street apartments which were only 
recently built (in the last 10/12 years)?  There would appear to be serious structural defects 
in this apartment block including major water leaks from the roof area, fire safety failures and 
doors which are disintegrating.  This report also to include whether the tenants are allowed 
access to their amenity on the roof of these buildings?  
 
Reply 
A full survey was carried out on the apartment complex in 2018 and no structural issues were 
identified with the building. There were a number of issues with regards to fire stopping 
between apartments and work was carried out in 2018/2019 to address these issues. 

 
In October 2021, there was a leak from a cylinder in the plant room located at the top of one 
of the blocks in the York Street apartment complex. The leak was caused by corrosion to a 
particular part used with the cylinder. All relevant parts have been replaced and a new 
maintenance contract is in place. 
 
We are currently looking at upgrading the roof area, we have removed a number of broken 
slabs and while this area is being worked on, it is off limits for tenants. 

 
Finally, a number of issues have occurred with the windows and we have obtained a 
specialist company to upgrade and maintain them. Bespoke parts have been ordered and 
although there is a long lead in time to get the parts, we are hopeful to have them within the 
first couple of months in 2023. 

 
Q.8 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report regarding the future of the Meeting House Square Market 
at Temple Bar?  This report also to include progress report and start date for the works at 
Temple Bar Square. 
 
Reply: 
The market at Meeting House Square is operating well and is expected to continue into the 
future.  
 
Road Design / Construction are not involved in plans for Meeting House Square, so we can’t 
comment on that aspect of this question.  
 
We are currently tendering for a main contractor for the Temple Bar Square project. 
Construction is due to start in March/April 2023. 

 
Q.9 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report with regards the progress and advancement of the idea 
by DCC for a municipal theatre at Smock Alley? 
 
Reply: 
Dublin City Council supports a proposal for a municipal theatre at Smock Alley. A plan to 
progress a proposal and business case for a municipal theatre will be developed in 2023. 
Updates on the proposal will be presented to Arts, Culture, Leisure & Recreation SPC on a 
regular basis. 
 
 

Page 70



7 
 

Q.10 Councillor Mannix Flynn 
Can the manager issue a full report with regards the massive infrastructure café (Tram Cafe) 
that has been constructed at Clonmel Street at Harcourt Street?  This report to include what 
planning process took place?  What license was handed out to these individuals?  What 
disposal took place and for how  many years?  Why this matter was not brought before 
the SEA committee?  What are the opening hours of this particular cafe?  What public 
announcements have been made that this is a supposed public amenity by way of public 
lavatories?  
 
Reply: 
The Office of City Recovery, Dublin City Council initiated an Open Tender Process in April 
2021, seeking proposals for the provision of retail units with integrated toilet facilities in Dublin 
City Council’s administrative area, for a period of 3 years with the option to renew for a further 
2 years. As is the standard procedure for public procurement of this type, the tender was 
advertised on e-tenders. It was obviously open to all persons to submit proposals. 
 
Dublin City Council issued a press release at the time (April 2021) to promote and highlight 
the tender to businesses and to the public in the hope of generating interest amongst possible 
tenderers. The initiative also received significant coverage across a number of media outlets 
and on social media. The matter of the tender was also reported on at several meetings of 
City Council and in reports to the City Recovery Taskforce and to City Councillors.  
 
As part of the tender process, a tender was received in relation to the installation of a coffee 
retail unit with integrated toilet facilities at the location at Clonmel Street, off Harcourt Street, 
Dublin 2. This tender was accepted in summer 2021, but there were unfortunate unexpected 
delays with the installation of the required utility services, including electrical and other 
connections.  These were resolved in recent months and the café / toilet unit was installed 
several weeks ago and is operating well.  
 
The café / public toilet arrangement is temporary and under the arrangement, the public toilet 
is to be available for public use during the hours of operation of the café. Management and 
cleaning of the public toilet is the responsibility of the café operator. The terms of the tender 
provide that the café / public toilet will be in place for 3 years with an option available to Dublin 
City Council to extend for a further 2 years. A permit to position the café / public toilet on the 
public road has been issued to the café operator by Dublin City Council. The Office of City 
Recovery will monitor the situation on an ongoing basis. 

 
Q.11 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager issue a full report regarding the cost of the Winter Wonder Lights? 
 
Reply 
Managers Order 218/2022 approved the budget for Dublin Winter Lights 2022.  We will not 
have final costs at the present time as the event is still ongoing however, we will have final 
costs in early 2023. 

 
Q.12 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager ascertain from the Dublin BIDs company/We are Dublin Town - the over 
cost and expenditure of their Christmas lights within the city and a breakdown of the costs 
between the North side and South side of the city.  
 
Reply 
I have asked DublinTown to provide this information and will revert when I have a reply. 

 
Q.13 Councillor Mannix Flynn 

Can the manager contact all the public house premises that are simply dumping rubbish and 
empty barrels and bottles in Liberty Lane?  This behaviour is absolutely deplorable with the 
footpaths  entirely blocked with filth and dirt which has resulted in no pedestrians now 

Page 71



8 
 

using this area.  Can fines be issued to these individuals?  See photographs attached.  It is 
important to note that St. Kevin’s Park is one of our finest amenity spaces for the local 
community but this kind of behaviour by local publicans and others seriously undermines that 
amenity and the public space.  
 

 
 

 
 
Report 
The Litter Wardens have inspected Liberty Lane over the past three weeks and spoke with 
the pub responsible for the barrels, bins etc. The Jar Pub are getting work done at the rear 
of the premises and as a result can’t store the bins where they are usually stored. They have 
requested time to get this work completed and will return the bins to the curtilage of the 
premises once the work is done. The pub have been told to make sure the area is kept free 
of litter or fines will be issued. A litter warden will be inspecting the lane daily and will issue 
fines where appropriate. 

 
Q.14 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can a new second vehicle entrance / exit be created at the car park of the Leisure Centre on 
Windmill Road?  Currently there is only one single lane entrance / exit and there is serious 
traffic chaos when the football pitches, swimming pool and boxing club are all in use.  A new 
second entrance / exit would allow for a traffic flow with one entrance and one exit point this 
would greatly ease the current traffic congestion at this location. 
 
Reply: 
The creation of an additional vehicular access will require planning permission. It is therefore 
a matter for the operator of the facility and/or the relevant department in DCC to bring an 
application forward. Transportation Planning Division can provide pre-application advice in 
this regard.  
 
Sports and Recreation Section will look into this matter and a reply will be issued to the 
Councillor in due course.  

 
Q.15 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager can he please come up with an improvement plan for Bedford 
Lane? 

Page 72



9 
 

  
Reply: 
The Area Office will examine Bedford Lane to see what improvements could be made? Just 
to note that the Overhead Artistic Installation as created by Jane Groves that was installed in 
2019 was taken down for repairs before Christmas with a view to re-installation in spring 
2023. We will also ensure that the laneway is kept clean and any graffiti is removed. 

 
Q.16 Councillor Deirdre Conroy 

To ask the Local Area Manager to bring these details to the Parks Department and receive 
a response to Crumlin Residents.  
 
Information from Crumlin Residents Association [Crumlin Clean-up] 
 
There were also a few areas where they felt improvement could be made and we have added 
these below: 
 

 We noted a lack of seating in Crumlin.  We see that you carried out a survey of the 
area and that two benches were added.  Truthfully much more are needed. Revisit 
this project and see where seats / picnic tables could be added to assist those less 
mobile and indeed those who would like to sit for a while and take in their 
surroundings.  A seat at the grotto in the church garden is badly needed to allow those 
who visit to sit and rest while praying. 

 
 We noted a number of tree stumps – some almost 1.8m in height.  Are these to be 

carved into some historic item / memento of Crumlin?  If not, they should be removed 
and replaced with new trees.  

 
 We suggest that you examine other residential roads and add trees to these too.  

Trees are known to have a positive impact on mental health and wellbeing.  By 
planting and caring for trees, you help reduce pollution, improve your surroundings, 
improve the appearance of your community and increase the value of your property.   

 
 You have a great number of planters along the streets and roads – we always 

recommend that plants be put into the ground rather than in planters.  
 

 We note that you will undertake a Biodiversity Study of the area in the next year.  Ask 
your expert to give 10 actions for you to undertake which will improve the biodiversity 
in Crumlin – ones that are manageable by a community group.   

 
 There are any small areas which could become Pocket Parks.  Prioritise these and 

add them to your 3 Year Plan for execution – some grass, trees, a flowerbed and 
perhaps a seat.  

 
 We looked for a water refill station around the centre of the village but didn’t see one.  

As the area has a large foot fall this should be provided.  
 

 Weed growth was noticed in quite a few areas, including residential, which detracted 
from these areas.   

 
 We read that there are only a few active residents’ associations in Crumlin which is 

disappointing, and we strongly encourage you to advance this.  
 

 We disagree with the idea of leaving grass margins on residential roads uncut for 
biodiversity.  Narrow grass margins need to be cut or the area gets an unkempt look 
which encourages litter.  In large green spaces leaving swaths of uncut grass is totally 
acceptable to enhance biodiversity. 

 

Page 73



10 
 

Although many of these are not litter based, perhaps they could give inspiration for some 
improvements for next year.  

 
Reply: 

Planters are only installed at the request of Community or Environmental Groups in 
the area.  The Community Team is happy to support the planting or upgrade of small 
fallow patches of ground by local groups, once suitable permissions are sought from 
residents adjacent to any location identified, and funds are available. 
 
The Area Manager has spoken to both Crumlin Clean up, Parks and other relevant sections 
and the matters identified will be progressed pending the appropriate funding being 
available etc. 

 
Q.17 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can our Parks Section look at the pathway in Lismore / Durrow Green?  A vehicle looks to 
have driven over the path damaging the grass area alongside the park.  Could remedial works 
be done on this green space? 
 
Reply: 
Parks will arrange for work to be carried out on the above green space early in the New Year. 

 
Q.18 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can our Parks Section arrange for the entrance points on Kells / Leighlin and Durrow / 
Lismore greens to be dished to allow people with mobility issues and wheelchairs to access 
the green space to use as a shortcut? 
 
Reply: 
The entrance points at Kells Road / Leighlin Road have been dished. 

 
Road Maintenance Services will arrange to dish the entrance points at Durrow Road / 
Lismore Road also. 

 
Q.19 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Could lighting be added to Willie Pearse Park laneway at the Star?  This laneway is attracting 
anti-social behaviour and is dangerous to use once it gets dark. 
 
Reply: 
A site visit will be undertaken to check what is involved in providing lighting along this lane 
with a view to installing lighting later in the year subject to available finances.   

 
Q.20 Councillor Pat Dunne 

In relation to the proposed capital work improvements to the public realm outside of the Garda 
Station in Crumlin, could a meeting be set up between the OPW, DCC and local groups to 
ensure that this opportunity might include some of the other recent successful initiatives and 
projects in the area such as seating, water bottle refill station, library box boxes and 
opportunities for biodiversity.  The area outside the Garda station seems like an obvious 
place where these facilities could thrive with the potential threat for anti-social activity. 
 
Reply: 
The Area Manager is not aware of any proposed capital works at the Garda Station in 
Crumlin.  A letter received from the OPW on the 9th December and forwarded to the 
Councillors stated they were not in favour of removing the wall and that the improvement 
works were completed in 2019. 
 

Page 74



11 
 

The Area Manager is happy to request a meeting with the relevant OPW representative but 
any decision regarding the placing of seating / water filling station or biodiversity measures 
is a matter for the OPW. 

 
Q.21 Councillor Pat Dunne 

Can the kerb at Bangor Circle opposite 92 Clonmacnoise Road be repaired?  Vans are 
parking on the grass verge and damaging it.  The capping on the green wall is also broken 
and would it be possible for this to be repaired.  The wall and kerb has been broken since 
2017, so it would be great to see it repaired promptly. 
 
Reply: 
Road Maintenance Services will repair the kerb at this location. 

 
The wall in question will be inspected by Parks Staff and any repairs found necessary will be 
scheduled for inclusion in the programme of works for the Area. 

 
Q.22 Councillor Pat Dunne 

To ask the manager to convene a meeting with traffic department to tackle road safety issues 
in Crumlin due to parking on corners.  
 
There are a small number of roads in Crumlin where visibility is poor when exiting due to cars 
parked on pathways on corners.  Attempts to intervene with planters, double yellow lines 
have been rejected by the traffic department.  There are plenty of examples in Crumlin, 
Kimmage where bollards have been used successfully by the traffic department to eradicate 
this problem.  Some examples are the junction of Clareville / Larkfield Gardens, Crumlin 
Village / Windmill Road, Windmill Road / Park, Captains / Windmill Road.  They have also 
been extensively used in areas such as Terenure, Rathgar and Harold’s Cross. 
 
Reply: 
Should the South East Area Manager convene a meeting with the Traffic Department on this 
issue, the Transport Advisory Group (TAG) will have a representative attend to address TAG 
related issues. It would be of benefit if the exact locations for discussion be forwarded to 
neil.odonoghue@dublincity.ie prior to the meeting.  

Page 75

mailto:neil.odonoghue@dublincity.ie


Pulse by Alva Gallagher 
 
Dublin City Council secured funding under the Fáilte Ireland Destination Towns Capital 
Investment Programme to commission a new artwork for the Liffey at City Quay, Dublin 2. 
 
The commissioning process was titled the Dublin Docklands Light Commission and was 
organised as a two stage open competition under the National Guidelines for the Per Cent for 
Art Scheme.  Three artists were short-listed and invited to further develop their proposals for 
presentation to the final selection panel.  The final selection panel consisted of Cllr Mannix 
Flynn and Cllr Claire Byrne, representatives of Fáilte Ireland, Dublin City Council including 
Dublin Docklands, City Arts Office, Environment and Transport Department as well as a 
community representative and external art expert.  
 
The proposal titled Pulse by Alva Gallagher was selected be consensus. Pulse unifies historic 
elements with contemporary modern concepts, creating a legacy piece within the historic 
Docklands.  While portraying the old Dockers great nets cast in suspended motion the artwork 
links the past with the contemporary city.  Her proposal is to construct a stainless steel 
structure which is 3.5 metres tall, 10 metres long and 3.15 metres wide.  This structure will be 
covered in a stainless steel mesh to create the effect of netting.  This will include a lighting 
system of 10,000 commercial grade RGB LEDs which will be colour changeable and sensory, 
programmed for an immersive public sculpture experience.  For example, one of the proposed 
lighting combinations is to recreate the night sky over the Liffey from 1665 when the first Liffey 
Ferry was licenced.   
 
The location for the installation is on City Quay, Dublin 2 on the campshires beside the River 
Liffey.  The location is between the Talbot Memorial Bridge and Sean O’Casey Bridge in what 
is more of a commercial than residential part of City Quay.   
 
Dublin City Council has been liaising with the artist and her technical team (including engineer, 
lighting designer and fabricator) to undertake site investigations and finalise the design of the 
structure.  Issues which have been taken into account in this process are the impact on the 
area where it is to be located as well as care and maintenance of the installation.  It is intended 
to sign contracts in February 2023 and that the artwork will be fabricated and installed within 
six months.   
 
The South East Area Manager will engage with local residents to brief them on the details of 
the project. 
 
 
Ruairí Ó Cuív  
Public Art Officer 
 
 

Page 76



Map and photograph of the proposed location for Pulse by Alva Gallagher.    

P
age 77



P
age 78



 

P
age 79



Commission for Dartmouth Square 
 

Funding was offered by the Upper Leeson Street Area Residents Association (ULSARA) 
towards the commissioning of a sculpture for Dartmouth Square.  Parks and Landscape 
Services has matched the funding.  The South East Area Committee also allocated 
discretionary funding towards the commission.  Lafcadio Hearn (1850-1904) was chosen as 
source of inspiration for the commission.  He lived as a boy nearby on Leeson Street (as well 
as in Rathmines) and in his later life became renowned for his writing and as the first person 
to translate Japanese folklore and mythology in to English.  While not so well known in Ireland 
his name is known to Japanese people to this day.  The selection meeting took place on the 
16th of December and the selection panel included Cllr Mannix Flynn, DCC Parks 
Superintendent, DCC Public Art Officer, representative of ULSARA, external art expert and 
curator for the process Jennie Guy.  The artist who submitted the preferred proposal has met 
with officials on site to discuss next steps and based on this is undertaking research before 
submitting a finalised proposal. 
 

Page 80



Housing & Community Services Department 
South East Area Office 

 
 
To the Chairperson and Members of the  
South East Area Committee 
 

 
Report of the Director of Services, Central and South East 

 

 
Grand Canal  
A meeting was held in January 2020 with Waterways Ireland representatives and Councillors 
to discuss ongoing management and maintenance of the canals in the city and to agree a new 
structure for interaction between Waterways Ireland and DCC. The latest meeting was held 
on 20th October 2022 via Microsoft Teams and the next meeting will be held on 2nd February 
2023. 
 
Portobello Harbour Square 
Áit Urbanism + Landscape were appointed as consultant for the project and two initial public 
consultation workshops were held on 1st and 8th June 2022 at St. Kevin’s Community Centre. 
Concept designs were prepared by consultants based on the outcome of these workshops 
and these were put on public display at St. Kevin’s Community Centre between 3pm and 8pm 
on Thursday 21st July 2022. Online consultation was open until 19th August 2022 and a large 
number of submissions were received. Preliminary Appraisal form has been lodged with the 
Capital Project Support Office (CPSO). Provision has being included in the Parks 2023/24/25 
draft Capital Programme for the re-design and development of Portobello Harbour Square. 
Parks Department made a presentation to the December 2022 South East Area Committee. 
Next stages: continue non statutory consultation with local stakeholders with emphasis on 
Children, Youth / Young People; engage in Pre Part 8 consultation with internal departments; 
develop the Part 8 planning package based on this feedback and continue survey work.  

Rathgar Village Improvement Plan (VIP) 
Herzog Park, Rathgar – Final Phase  
The final phase of the project includes the re-alignment of the front boundary of the park and 
the revised car park layout, as set out in the Part 8 permission. A preliminary site meeting was 
held with Road Construction engineers on 14th April 2022. Surveys of the area are being 
carried out including a drone survey and GPR Survey to assist in the design process. Once 
the design process has been completed it is proposed to prepare a tender for works to car 
park area in 2023. When these works are carried out, further landscaping inside the park will 
be required as part of the works to complete the project. 
 
Ringsend Irishtown Local Environment Improvement Plan (LEIP)  
The Ringsend Irishtown Local Environment Improvement Plan (LEIP) was adopted at the June 
2017 South East Area Committee meeting. Following that it was proposed to prepare planning 
applications under Part 8 of the Planning and Development Regulations, 2001, for the 
redesign of (1) Library Square and (2) Cambridge Road. 
 
*Both of these projects are now listed on the Capital Programme 2021 – 2023 and have been 
awarded funding from the Urban Regeneration and Development Fund (URDF). 
 
Library Square: (Mitchell & Associates) Meetings with internal stakeholders were held during 
September and October 2018. A meeting was held with local businesses to discuss parking / 
loading arrangements on 5th December 2018. A presentation was made to area councillors 
on 13th February 2019 and a preliminary draft design was brought to a public meeting for all 

Page 81



stakeholders on Thursday 21st March 2019 in the Ringsend Irishtown Community Centre 
(RICC). Following a period of consultation up to 19th April 2019, submissions were received 
and were reviewed by the project team. A revised design was brought before the Public Realm 
Working Group on 22nd October 2019. A meeting of all internal stakeholders was held on 28th 
November 2019 and further required detail was identified by key departments. An invitation to 
tender for additional services to bring the project to Part 8 was issued to consultants and 
Mitchell & Associates were formally appointed on 17th November 2021. Preliminary meeting 
of design team took place on 15th December 2021 and detailed meetings with internal 
departments were held in January and February 2022. GPR Survey was carried out in January 
2022.  
 
A second round of meetings with internal departments was held during April/May 2022 and 
work on finalising the design has commenced. A meeting was held with local businesses to 
finalise servicing arrangements for traders on Fitzwilliam Street in November. A public 
information meeting to present the designs to the community was held on Wednesday 7th 
December 2022 in Ringsend Irishtown Community Centre which was well received. Some 
areas to be reviewed before commencement of Pre-Part 8. A Road Safety Audit will be carried 
out. As part of the Part 8 process design boards will be put on display in Ringsend Library to 
keep the community informed. Pre-Part 8 drawings will be circulated in February 2023. 
Councillors will be briefed before we commence the formal Part 8 process.  
 
Cambridge Road: An initial public workshop in relation to Cambridge Road was held on 
Thursday 30th August 2018 in the RICC. Meetings with Redscape Architects and internal 
stakeholders took place in September and October and designs were drafted based on 
consultations which were brought to a second public workshop/meeting on 28th November 
2018. Further information was required in relation to road design and drainage requirements 
for the proposal in particular. In 2019 Road Design & Construction Section, E & T Department, 
agreed to take on the completion of the project to Part 8 stage. Detailed meetings took place 
between Roads Design & Construction and internal departments with a view to agreeing an 
overall design before commencing Part 8 planning process. Parks Services Department 
requested that a Ground Penetrating Radar (GPR) survey be carried out prior to Part 8 to 
identify location of underground services and any impact on tree planting. Drainage 
Department welcomed the provision of additional greening providing a SuDS benefit and a 
proposed new surface water main is being considered in conjunction with Irish Water. 
Agreement of the final design for the road has been delayed as we wait for the NTA to finalise 
the route for the East Coast Trail (ECT) which will either traverse Cambridge Road or run 
along part of Cambridge Road from Canon Mooney Gardens to Thorncastle Street. We are 
awaiting an update on the East Coast Trail before we can make further progress with this 
matter. 
 
Cabbage Garden & Cathedral Lane 
We held a stakeholder meeting in Liberties College on the 19th January when Parks outlined 
their plans for the year. I am awaiting further details on this from Parks before we arrange an 
information meeting for members of the public. We are liaising with the Sports Section to 
arrange a programme of activity for children in the area. 
 
City Quay 
We are in discussions with the Traffic Engineer regarding parking at City Quay. When we 
make progress with a parking scheme it will allow the public realm project at the front of City 
Quay to proceed.  We also met Housing Maintenance on site and they are arranging for a 
number of locations at City Quay to be cleaned/tidied up. We are continuing to liaise with City 
Quay residents on a regular basis. 
 
  

Page 82



Rosary Hall 
After receiving extra funding of €240k which was approved at the April City Council meeting 
(as well as €125k already allocated), it was decided to retender the entire proposed works.  
Meetings took place with both main community groups and consultant architects during the 
summer 2021 to outline and agree the proposed works which included mechanical & electrical 
works, fire safety works, remedial works and lift replacement. 
 
The Area Manager also engaged in meetings with both community groups regarding 
governance of the facility and a management agreement was finalised in May 2022. 
 
A supervisory committee comprising of two members of the football club and two members of 
the Harold’s Cross Village Community Council (HXVCC) and the Area Manager will be 
established to optimise the use of the facility for the benefit of the Community. 
 
Tender documentation was completed and advertised and tenders were received back on 
February 14th.  When these tenders were assessed by Consultants it was apparent that 
construction inflation has led to a significant increase on the previously estimated cost. 
 
A full Corporate Project Support Office (CPSO) appraisal form has been submitted in relation 
to the matter and it has been included in list of projects for capital funding 
 
The disposal of the lease was agreed at the Area committee meeting in June and was brought 
to the July Council meeting and approved.   
Final further work in relation to the agreed Protocol for Management of the Building was 
agreed late last year and the Lease signed 
 
Although the requisite monies have now been sourced and the preferred bidder has been 
contacted it has not proved possible to proceed currently due to Procurement requirements. 
 
It is now proposed to retender the works and meetings are ongoing with our City Architects to 
expedite matters 
 
Age Friendly Initiative Harold’s Cross 
The Age Friendly Committee for Harold’s Cross has been operational since early 2020.  A 
draft report was submitted by the Harold’s Cross Village Community Council (HCVCC) in 
conjunction with Rob Chester, Area Community Officer and it was agreed to progress a 
number of these proposals, funding permitting.  In tandem with this it is proposed to hold a 
workshop to further engage with the residents and ensure particularly any elderly resident who 
was not consulted has an opportunity to contribute to the process and be included.  It was 
agreed to defer the facilitation of a Workshop to get the views of the wider community till 
autumn 2022. 
 
A subgroup under the Housing SPC has been convened to look at the City Wide Age Friendly 
Strategy.  Under this structure, submissions for funding may be advanced, including the 
Harold’s Cross project. 
 
It has been agreed by the elected members that further monies (€8k) will be allocated to this 
age friendly initiative in the discretionary funding for 2022. 
 
IT Age Friendly tablets have been distributed to residents and have been very well received.  
Cliff Run Media have supplied over 1,000 units to established age friendly projects across the 
country; the tablet comes with one year’s free WIFI and are dignity proofed to make access 
as easy as possible. 
 

Page 83



It is anticipated that when the works are completed on Rosary that it can play a pivotal role in 
age friendly activities going forward.   
 
Eir have completed the work involved in getting an additional line into Harold’s Cross Park to 
enable Virgin Media to set up the Wi-Fi hot spot for the area around the café.   
 
A series of Sub group meeting have taken place in 2022 including February 11th, 28th, March 
16th and April 8th to progress matters and it is hoped to schedule a programme of events to 
encourage people to participate in.   
 
The first Ageing Well Café meeting took place on March 8th and was attended by about 40 
residents with great support from HXVCC.  There was a good cross section of our older 
persons.  
 
A trip to Russborough House took place on April 11th.   
 
An Ageing Well Café meeting took place on 17th May in McGowan’s and a full Age Friendly 
Committee meeting took place on May 5th. 
 
The sub group met on July 15th and a main meeting took place on the 20th September.   
 
A trip was organised to the National Stud on Tuesday 27th September and was attended by a 
large group. 
 
An event took place in McGowan’s on 7th December and was very well attended 
 
It is proposed to set aside further funding in the Discretionary Fund this year to the HX Age 
Friendly Initiative. 
 
Rutland Grove / Eamonn Ceannt Park 
Meeting took place on 30th January 2020 with traffic engineers, Les Moore from Parks, Area 
Manager and staff and Cllr. Pat Dunne.  It was agreed at the meeting that Traffic Section would 
look again at the feasibility of putting in dedicated parking as per Part 8.  Should it be possible 
to implement, the design would need to progressed and costed. 
 
Leslie Moore has indicated with response to a July motion that he will engage a consultant to 
review this issue regarding the Part 8 parking.  This has not happened to date 
 
As an interim measure planters were installed at the entrance to Rutland Grove to enhance 
the environment and assist with ongoing illegal parking at the entrance.  Regrettably a number 
of these have been vandalised and a solution is being sought in conjunction with the residents’ 
association.  
 
Work was completed on the footpaths across the open green space as agreed under the 
discretionary funding. 
 
A detailed capital appraisal was prepared for tender stage and works on the Depot upgrade 
and was scheduled to start last year.  However due to construction inflation the cost has 
exceeded the assigned budget.  An update in relation to this is expected shortly 
 
The Crumlin Kimmage Festival took place on July 10th in Eamonn Ceannt Park and it was 
deemed a great success by locals and all who attended. 
 

Page 84



A  Crumlin Halloween Mini Festival took place in Eamonn Ceannt from 12pm to 4pm on 
Monday 31st October 2022 and received very good feedback from the community who 
attended. 
 
A ‘Friends of Eamonn Ceannt’ meeting is took place on 15th December in the pavilion in 
Eamonn Ceannt Park. 
 
Choice Based Lettings / Allocations 
No units are currently being advertised under this scheme at the moment but we do expect to 
advertise further units shortly. 
 
CCTV Benbulben Road 
Following on from the provision of Discretionary Funding for the installation of CCTV at 
Benbulben Road, we have continued to try to progress the matter. Adhering to advice from 
DCC’s Data Protection Office, a letter was sent to the Garda Commissioners Office on the 
11th March 2021. This letter requested written authorisation from the Garda Commissioner for 
Dublin City Council to install CCTV at the location, which is a public area and not within the 
bounds of a Dublin City Council complex. The current DCC code of practice for installation of 
CCTV in public places requires such authorisation from the Garda Commissioner. The office 
of the Commissioner replied on the 11th May 2021 and submitted a number of documents, 
including An Garda Síochána’s Code of Practice for Community Based CCTV Systems. The 
documents submitted are at variance with DCC’s code of practice for CCTV in public places 
and do not seem to take into account that DCC are installing the CCTV rather than a 
Community based organisation. Discussions took place with local based senior Gardaí in 
order to try and reconcile the differing positions but following further advice from our Data 
Protection Office further clarity was required from An Garda Síochána. Further communication 
from An Garda Síochána outlining their position on this matter stated that their internal 
policy/procedures will only allow authorisation of this scheme if it is designated a Community 
CCTV Scheme. Designating this CCTV Project a Community Based CCTV Scheme would 
impose greater responsibility on the local community in relation to their role in consultation, 
installation, maintenance and management of the CCTV system. In addition, given the 
proposed location of the CCTV and the serious criminality which takes place there, there is a 
significant potential for health and safety issues to arise for community representatives 
involved in such a project.   It would also have the potential to increase costs for the project.  
 
We held further discussions with An Garda Síochána in April 2022 in relation to this CCTV 
scheme and while they have not changed their viewpoint they have raised issues in relation 
to all CCTV schemes which will require further clarification with our own Data Protection Office.  
 
Additionally, the Office of the Data Protection Commissioner has recently issued a substantial 
fine against Limerick City and County Council in relation to the operation of CCTV in its area. 
This decision is likely to have knock on effects for other Local Authorities and our Law 
Department are reviewing the decision to assess its implications for existing and planned 
CCTV schemes.  
 
The most recent update from DCC’s Data Protection Office indicated that discussions are still 
ongoing between the Local Government Management Agency and An Garda Síochána and 
no clarification on the issues outlined above is forthcoming as of yet. 
 
Former Fr. Lar Redmond Hall, Keeper Road, Drimnagh 
This community hall has been vacant for many years and Housing Development are proposing 
to redevelop the site for Housing. The site will be developed by Respond Housing and the 
draft proposal is to build 20 Older Persons Units on the site. The proposal is at an early stage 
and information days were held in Dolphin’s Barn Library on Wednesday 25th and Thursday 
26th January.  

Page 85



Waste Management / Environmental Services 
D’Olier Street / Westmoreland Street / Wellington Quay / Moss Street railings completed. 
 
Discretionary fund projects under consideration / pricing. 
Bags and equipment delivered to community groups - 22 deliveries & 35 collections by 
Waste Management.   
 
St. Patrick’s Close pillar repaired 23rd/24th January 2023.  
 
Shutters on Camden Street / Wexford Street scheduled for cleansing.  
 
Burgh Quay Shutters cleaned.  
 
Public Domain community clean days suspended. 
 
Cabbage Patch.  
Locks welded & new signage provided.  Repairs scheduled for 15th /16th February 2023. 
 
Graffiti Removal January 2023 
240 m2 for January 2023.   
 
Abandoned Bicycles 
2023 removals yet to commence.   
 
Joint Policing Committee 
The last meeting of 2022 was held on 8th December.  The dates for the 2023 SEA JPC 
meetings are:  
  
30th March 2023 
22nd June 2023 
28th September 2023 
7th December 2023 
 
Community Development Report – South East Area  
 
Allotments 
At this time of year, plots are being busily prepared for the new season and year ahead.  
Annual licences for our allotments at Blarney Park, Herbert Park and Ringsend Park will be 
collected during February.  The Kingfisher Project at Blarney Park will be offered a cost neural 
licence for the nine zones (polytunnels, apiary, education space, dry composting etc.) over 
which they have oversight.  
 
Charlemont Community Resource Centre 
The Tom Kelly 2 (TK2) Centre continues to deliver top facilities and recreational space for the 
local community in the Charlemont Street area.  The centre and local community are now in 
the process of creating a community roof garden and to support this, we have organised for 
RTÉ & Virgin TV wildlife expert, Eanna Ní Lamhna to visit, meet the community and give some 
expert advice there on Thursday, 9th February from 2 - 3pm. 
 
Community Groups 
Much of January was spent re-engaging with community groups / centres / organisations and 
working on our plan for 2023 to coordinate objectives and activities with those groups on the 
ground. 
 
 

Page 86



Crumlin Heritage Report 
Following the launch of the report at St. Mary’s Parish Church Hall on Thursday, 26th of 
January, a newly formed history and heritage group will work on the recommendations 
contained within 
 
Donnybrook Active Retirement Association Events  
Donnybrook ARA is continuing to organise wonderful events every second Tuesday at the 
new Donnybrook Parish Centre, located next to the Church of the Sacred Heart.  We will 
continue to offer strong support to this group through the provision / booking of talks, musical 
acts and theatrical performances, starting with a Going Wild in Your Garden Talk from RTÉ 
& Virgin TV wildlife expert, Eanna Ní Lamhna on 24th January at 2.30pm.    
 
We have also booked the following for the group for February: 

 

Tuesday, 14th February at 2.30pm – Valentine’s Day Singalong featuring live music from 
yesteryear with Pastimes 
 
Tuesday, 28th February at 2.30pm - The Importance of Being Oscar.  Devised by Micheál 
Mac Liammóir, this one hour show is based on the writings of Oscar Wilde and will be 
performed by actor, Michael Judd.  It has previously enjoyed successful runs at Bewley’s 
Theatre.       
 
Evergreen Club 
The Evergreen Club are commencing a series of upgrades of the club premises in Terenure 
during late January and early February, starting with overhaul of the electrics and installation 
of custom made entrance / lobby doors.  The Centre is planned to be fully reopened by Monday 
the 6th of January.  A member of the Evergreen Management Committee with project 
management experience is overseeing the renovations.  A series of meetings with the Irish 
Red Cross is taking place with a view to solidifying the group’s long term future usage of the 
premises. 
 
Older Persons’ Council  
The South East Area’s Older Persons’ Council was relaunched in mid-January with a meeting 
of the group at the Alex Hotel on Fenian Street.   Many new members were in attendance.  
The OPC is a recognised ‘voice’ for older people in the area and going forward, will be involved 
in local decision making and national consultation.  Some core objectives for 2023 were set 
out by the group at this meeting. 
 
Portobello St. Kevin’s Heritage Talks 
A series of monthly local history talks will be taking place at St. Kevin’s Community Centre on 
Bloomfield Avenue in Portobello, starting in February.  These talks, organised by Portobello 
Tidy Towns with support from our team, will be given by Arran Henderson, a graduate in Art 
History who has written extensively on art and visual culture for numerous publications as well 
as running the Dublin Decoded walking tour business.  The first talk will take place on Tuesday, 
7th February at 8pm and will explore Portobello as it became a haven for artists, actors and 
writers and for Jewish people fleeing persecution in the old Tsarist Russian Empire.  The one 
hour talk will look at the growth of Dublin’s “Little Jerusalem” and also touch on the area’s 
extraordinary hidden links to American and entertainment history; including John Lennon and 
the Beatles, the California water wars in Los Angeles and famous Oscar-winning movies of 
the 1940s.  
 
Ranelagh Arts 
A large focus at the centre over the coming months will be on the development of six new 
plays.  The centre will be helping with script development, in-house readings and support from 
theatre professionals with the aim of nurturing emerging directors and actors.  The committee 

Page 87



is also planning to host their two week long Ranelagh Arts Festival earlier this year, in May 
rather than in September. 
 
Ringsend & Irishtown Dementia Café, Sensory Garden and Tranquillity Space 
The launch of the Ringsend & Irishtown Dementia Café, Sensory Garden and Tranquillity 
Space will take place on Wednesday, 15th February at 11am at Ringsend & Irishtown 
Community Centre.  The Dementia Café and Sensory Gardens aim to provide a much 
needed social outlet, not only for local residents with dementia, but also for their relatives and 
carers whilst facilitating access to information and support.  The Tranquillity Room will be 
located next to the garden and will offer a space for those wishing to “take a moment”. 
 
A number of related events will also be taking place that week, from 13 - 17 February, to raise 
awareness of people living with dementia and to provide information on some of the supports 
available for families.  The Cloud Spotter play will form part of the week’s programme and be 
performed each day during the week (see listings below for times) upstairs at Ringsend & 
Irishtown Community Centre.  This powerful community play is about the relationship between 
a grandmother with the onset of dementia and her grandson and touches on issues that can 
arise within families when a family member has dementia.  A Q&A piece will take place after 
the play encouraging young people and older people to discuss some of the issues presented. 
There will be key stakeholders in attendance including MABS, Clanwilliam Counselling and 
Dementia Advisors from the Alzheimer’s Society to provide information of services available.   
 
Ringsend Junior Park Run 
The Ringsend Junior Park Run takes place every Sunday morning at 9.30am at Ringsend 
Park; meeting inside the entrance at Cambridge Road.  It is open those aged 4 - 14 years old 
and participants can walk, run or jog at their own pace around the 2k course. 
 
Sandymount Community Centre / Lá Fhéile Bríde & the Importance of Being Oscar 
Sandymount Community Centre will be ccelebrating St. Bridget's Day on Tuesday, 31st 
January from 7 - 9pm with an opportunity for those who come along to learn about St. Bridget 
and set some intentions for the year ahead.  There will also be a cross-making workshop, 
some chat and cuppa on offer! 
 
With support from our Community Team and Sandymount Tidy Towns Community 
Association, the centre will be presenting a Sandymount Culture Programme on a near 
monthly basis, offering theatre, poetry, music and more.  It will be free admission to all events 
with a donation box left at the door for support to future events.  This Friday Night Club will be 
launched with a performance of The Importance of Being Oscar (see details above) on 
Friday, 3rd February at 7.30pm.   

 

Singalong Afternoons & Tea Dances 
Two piece band, Pastimes and vocalist / guitarist, Mikey Smyth will be bringing some music 
from yesteryear to singalong events and tea dances for older residents, during February.   
 

 Thursday, 2nd February at 4.30pm – Milltown Parish Centre for Milltown I.C.A. 

 Tuesday, 14th February at 2.30pm – Donnybrook Parish Centre for Donnybrook Active 
Retirement Association (Valentine’s Day). 

 Tuesday, 14th February at 2.30pm – St. Andrews Resource Centre for St. Andrews 
Senior Care (Valentine’s Day). 

 Friday, 17th February at 2pm – Evergreen Club, Terenure (Valentines Tea Dance). 
 
Valentine’s Day Potted Roses Project 
Distribution of 200 potted roses to older and vulnerable people in the community will take place 
during Valentine’s week in partnership with local centres and groups in Ringsend, Irishtown, 

Page 88



Pearse Street and Donnybrook.  The idea behind this initiative is to remind older and 
vulnerable people that there is care in the local community and that neighbours are on hand 
to help.  A similar project with tri-colour roses for St. Patrick’s week and Easter is in the 
planning for older residents in our flat and housing complexes. 
 
Winter Music Programme 
A series of community concerts are currently being arranged for our Older Persons within care 
facilities for the months of February and March.  Locations include Merrick House Terenure, 
Mount Anthony Rathmines, Eastwell Ladies Home Rathgar, Mount Argus Community Centre 
Harold’s Cross / Kimmage and with the Crumlin Senior Citizens Club.  As these are private 
indoor events and with the rise of respiratory infections the groups have asked that they are 
not advertised. 

 

Miscellaneous 
Other ongoing projects / activities include Friends of Green Spaces Environmental Projects, 
Tidy Towns, New-born Knitting, Whitefriar Strings Project, Planter / Hanging Basket Projects 
and Vibrant Villages Walking Trail Map & Guides. 
 
Pembroke & South East Inner City Wards Community Events – February 2023 
2 February at 4.30pm – Singalong Afternoon with Pastimes for Milltown ICA at Milltown Parish 
Centre. 
 
3 February at 7.30pm – The Importance of Being Oscar Performance at Sandymount 
Community Centre, Newbridge Avenue. 
 
5 February at 9.30am – Ringsend Junior Park Run at Ringsend Park (weekly). 
 
7 February at 8pm – Portobello History Talk at St. Kevin’s Community Centre, Bloomfield 
Avenue. 
 
9 February at 3pm - Going Wild in the Garden with Eanna Ní Lamhna at Charlemont 
Community Resource Centre. 
 
13 February at 7pm – CYWMS Valentines Bingo Bonanza, CYWMS Hall, Ringsend. 
 
13 - 14 February – Valentines Potted Roses Project for Pearse Street, Ringsend, Irishtown 
and Donnybrook areas. 
 
13 & 14 February at 1pm – The Cloud Spotter Play at Ringsend & Irishtown Community 
Centre. 
 
13 - 17 February – Pearse Street Talk About Youth Project Valentines Week Programme, 
Pearse Street. 
 
14 February at 2.30pm – Valentine’s Day Singalong Afternoon with Pastimes at 
Donnybrook Parish Centre. 
 
14 February – Valentine’s Day Singalong Afternoon with Mikey Smyth at St. Andrews 
Resource Centre for St. Andrew’s Senior Care, Pearse Street. 
 
15 February at 11am – Launch of Dementia Café, Sensory Garden & Tranquillity Space 
at Ringsend & Irishtown Community Centre. 
 
15 & 16 February at 7pm – The Cloud Spotter Play at Ringsend & Irishtown Community 
Centre. 

Page 89



 
17 February at 1pm – The Cloud Spotter Play at Ringsend & Irishtown Community Centre. 
 
17 February at 2pm – Valentines Tea Dance at the Evergreen Club, Terenure.  
 
28 February at 2.30pm – The Importance of Being Oscar at Donnybrook Parish Centre for 
Donnybrook Active Retirement Association. 
 
Dublin City Sport and Wellbeing Partnership Update 
 
2023 – Linking in with National Events & Initiatives 
The primary goal of DCSWP is to provide opportunities for everyone to get involved in sport & 
physical activity regardless of age, gender or ability. In 2023 DCSWP continues to align the 
planning and delivery of programmes with national and international events. This strategic 
approach helps maximise promotion of the service, adds momentum to local programmes and 
initiatives and ultimately increases reach across communities in Dublin City.  
 
Please see below highlight programmes for February/March 2023:   
 
Change for Life 2023  
Continues in the South East area (see programme report below). 
 
Get Dublin Walking / Couch to 3 & 5K 
These core DCSWP programmes commenced in January in local communities.  The Couch 
to 3 & 5k programmes link to parkrun and 5k programmes linked in with the Operation 
Transformation 5k run in early February. This year participants were be further supported by 
the launch of the DCSWP Couch to 5k podcast. 
 
Lord Mayor’s 5 Alive 2023 
As reported on in the January update The Lord Mayor’s 5 Alive continues in 2023. Details of 
race 3 remain TBC but will be communicated to participants on all DCC/DCSWP 
communication platforms.  
 
Women in Sport 
DCSWP’s Get All Girls Active (GAGA) initiative is dedicated to providing opportunities for 
women of all ages and abilities to become involved in sport and physical activity and to 
increasing the visibility/representation of Women in Sport. In 2022 Ellen Keane and Kellie 
Harrington were appointed as DCSWP ambassadors to promote and celebrate female 
sporting achievements.  While female focussed programmes are delivered throughout the 
year, GAGA will take on a strategic focus in March by running in tandem with Women in Sport 
Week (7th-13th March). DCSWP Sport and Co-funded Officers have commenced planning – in 
the South East area Officers will be working closely with Youth Services to deliver programmes 
that promote women in sport throughout the week.  
 
Active Cities / Health Improvement  
Please see previous report. Schools across the city, including those in the South East area, 
continue to be supported through the DCSWP Active Cities/ HSE Playground Stencil 
Programme.  
 
School Cross-Country 
The school’s cross country citywide programme (age 8-12 years) has commenced and 
DCSWP is working closely with Parks & Landscape Services  to facilitate the citywide main 
event in John Paul Park, Cabra on Wednesday 1st March.  Track and field training sessions to 
continue in schools in the South East area in the lead up to the event. 
 

Page 90



All DCSWP highlight programmes will continue to be supported by social media channels 
and the DCSWP Virtual Hub. See below:  
 

 Dublin City Sport & Wellbeing Partnership Virtual Hub: www.dcwsphub.ie  
 Email: sports@dublincity.ie 
 Twitter: @dccsportsrec   
 Facebook: DublinCitySportandWellbeing 
 Instagram: @dublincitysportandwellbeing 

 
South East Area February / March Highlights 
The following programmes will take place throughout February/March 2023 in the South 
East Area.  These are highlight programmes representing all target groups.  Details of 
certain programmes remain in the tentative / TBC stage.  
 
Change for Life - Underactive Communities 
 

Name of programme: Change For Life Couch to 5k Terenure 

 Description of programme activity: 8-week programme aimed at adults looking 
to take up running in a safe environment. 
Participants build strength and stamina over 
and 8 week period after which they 
complete a 5k run/jog/walk.   

Age group: Adults 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Continues from Terenure Village car-park 
every Monday at 6.30pm. 

 

Name of programme: Change For Life  Couch to 5k Harold’s 
Cross 

 Description of programme activity: 8-week programme aimed at adults looking 
to take up running in a safe environment. 
Participants build strength and stamina over 
an 8 week period after which they complete 
a 5k run/jog/walk.   

Age group: Adults 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Continues from Harold’s Cross park every 
Wednesday at 6.30pm.  

 

Name of programme: Change For Life Ringsend/Irishtown 

 Description of programme activity: 8-week General Fitness & Wellbeing 
Programme   

Age group:  16+ years 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Irishtown Stadium   

 

Name of programme: Change For Life Ringsend/Irishtown 

 Description of programme activity: Guided Hillwalking Programme with local 
groups in the South East area in 
partnership with Ballyfermot Outward 
Bounds Adventure Centre   

Page 91

http://www.dcswphub.ie/
http://www.dcswphub.ie/
file://///dccdata/cande/Shared/EandC/Sport%20&%20Wellbeing%20Partnership/Communications/Area%20Committee%20Reports/Reporting%202022/South%20East%20Area/sports@dublincity.ie
https://twitter.com/dccsportsrec
https://www.facebook.com/DublinCitySportandWellbeingPartnership/


Age group: 18+ years 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Various locations including Bull Island and 
designated routes in the Dublin Mountains. 

 

Name of programme: Change For Life Couch to 5k  
Brickfield/Crumlin 

 Description of programme activity: Couch to 5k Walking/Jogging programme   

Age group: 18+ years 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Brickfield Park. Times and dates TBC 

 
Forever Fit – Older Adults age 55+ years 

Name of core programme: Forever Fit – St. Andrew’s/Pearse Street 

 Description of programme activity:  Older Adults multi-sport programme 

Partners: St. Andrew’s and Pearse St. Recreation 
Centre 

Age group: Age 60+ Years  

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Charles Centre, Sandymount  every 
Wednesday from 2.30pm 

 

Name of core programme: Forever Fit – Lorcan O’Toole, Crumlin 

 Description of programme activity: Chair Fit 

Partners: Lorcan O’Toole centre Crumlin/Kimmage 

Age group: Age 55+ years 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Lorcan O’Toole centre every Wednesday 
from 11am.  

 

Name of Programme: Forever Fit Harold’s Cross 

 Description of programme activity: Chair Fit classes aimed  improving mobility 
and balance for Older Adults 

Age group: Age  55 + years 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Harold’s Cross Parish Centre every Monday 
from 11am 

 

Name of core programme: Forever Fit Terenure 

 Description of programme activity:  Older Adult Dance & Fitness programme 
aimed at improving mobility and improving 
fitness levels. 

Age group: Age 55+ Years (Mixed) 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Evergreen Centre, Terenure every Tuesday 
at 11am  

 

 

 

Page 92



Thrive – Adults with mental health difficulties 
 

Name of programme: Mindfulness Programme 

 Description of programme activity: Yoga programme aimed at adults with 
mental health difficulties. 

Partners: Clonskeagh Day Care Centre 

Age group: 18  +years 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/Time and Location: Clonskeagh Day Care Centre every 
Thursday at 12.30pm  

 

Name of programme: Mindfulness & Exercise Mental Health 
Programme 

 Description of programme activity: Yoga programme aimed at adults with 
mental health difficulties. 

Partners: Pearse St. Rehab Centre 

Age group: 18  +years 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/Time and Location: Pearse St. Rehab Centre every Monday 
from 2pm  
.  

 
Health Improvement in the Community 
 

Name of programme: D6 Holistic Health  

 Description of programme activity : Holistic Mental Health & Exercise 
programme for people experiencing mental 
health difficulties (referral only) 

Partners: HSE Occupational Therapists  

Age group: Adults 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Swan Leisure Centre every Thursday from 
12 noon.  

 

Name of programme: D4 Tai Chi 

 Description of programme activity : Older Adult programme aimed at adults 
aged 55+ years experiencing mental health 
difficulties.  

Partners: HSE Occupational Therapists  

Age group: Adults 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Irishtown & Ringsend Centre every 
Wednesday from 10.30am 

 

Name of programme: Men On The Move Terenure  

 Description of programme activity : Nutrition & Mental Health Workshops aimed 
at men age 55+ years 

Partners: HSE Occupational Therapists  

Date/time and location: St. Joseph’s Parish Hall, Terenure every 
Tuesday from 7pm and the Evergreen 
Centre,  Terenure  every Thursday from 
7pm  

 

Page 93



Youth Fit – Young People at Risk Age 10-24 Years 
 

Name of programme: Youth Fit Swimming 

 Description of programme activity : Swimming Programme 

Partners: South East Area Youth Services and 
DCSWP’s Get Dublin Swimming Co-funded 
officer 

Age group: 10-17years 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: Markievicz Swimming Pool every Tuesday 
(commencing 21st Feb) from 4pm 

 

Name of programme: Youth Fit Rugby 

 Description of programme activity : Secondary School Female Rugby 
Programme.  

Age group: 13-17years 

Gender: Female 

Date/time and location: CBS, Westland Row every Wednesday 
from 3pm.   

 

Name of programme: Youth Fit Mid-Term Programmes 

 Description of programme activity : Mid-Term Outdoor Programmes  

Age group: 10-17years 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: CBS, Westland Row every Wednesday 
from 3-4pm. Commencing 11th January.   

 

Name of programme: Youth Fit Clay Youth 

 Description of programme activity : Multi-sport drop-in programmes in 
partnership with Clay Youth Services  

Age group: 13-18 years 

Gender: Mixed 

Date/time and location: February/March. Details TBC   

 
Sport Inclusion & Integration (Citywide inclusion & integration programmes (citywide - 
programmes include participants from the South East Area) 
 

 Sport For All Visually Impaired Indoor Rowing programme in partnership with Vision 
Ireland and DCSWP Co-funded Rowing Officer every Tuesday from January to March  
(age 10- 18 years). 

 Sport for All Table Cricket (adapted cricket) programme in partnership with Enable 
Ireland, Sandymount and DCSWP Co-funded Cricket Officer every Wednesday from 
January to March (age 10-18 years). 

 Sport for All Accessible Powerboat wheelchair programme in partnership with various 
organisations. Facilitated by DCC East Wall Water Sports Centre (all ages 
commencing January. Dates TBC and delivery tide dependant). 

 Inclusive Volleyball programme in partnership with Bravo Volleyball Club (LGBTQ+) 
every Tuesday from in Inchicore Sports & Fitness Centre from January to March 

 Learn 2 Cycle programme for young people with additional needs looking to start or 
improve cycling skills in Ballyfermot Sports & Fitness Centre every Friday from January 
to March (age 4 – 18 years). 

  

Page 94



DCSWP South East Area Co-Funded Programmes:  
 
Athletics in the Community 
Couch to 3/5k and walking programmes continue in the South East area in partnership with 
Co-funded Athletics Officers. Officers continue to engage with schools in the Daily Mile and 
Marathon Kids programmes. 
 
Boxing in the Community 
The South East area Boxing Development Officer continues to deliver the Startbox programme 
in local schools and engaging with local clubs and groups in coaching/leadership and 
education programmes. 
 
Cricket in the Community 

 The DCSWP Cricket Development Officer continues to deliver and support citywide 
inclusive programmes and engage with local schools (St. Matthews NS, Start of the 
Sea) in softball cricket sessions every Thursday from 11am. 

 U 15 Team Training sessions continues every Friday from 3.30pm in Merrion Cricket 
Club (mixed).  
 

Football in the Community 
The Football Officer in the South East Area continues to deliver the following programmes;  
 

 PDP1 UEFA Refugee Course every Wednesday and Saturday in Irishtown stadium 
(16+ years, mixed). 
 

 PDP 1 Introductory Coaching Course every Wednesday and Saturday in Irishtown 
stadium (16 + years, mixed). 

 
 PDP 1 Introductory Coaching Course every Thursday in CBS, Westland Row aimed at 

Transition year students (mixed). 
 

 School sessions will take pace in St. Christopher’s National school every Friday and 
St. Matthew’s NS every Tuesday over the next period.  

 
 The Youth Mentoring project is aimed at teenagers age 15-18 years (mixed) and is a 

partnership project between DCC/DCSWP/Google and local South East area 
clubs/groups. The programme will be delivered on an ongoing basis in 2023. Full 
details TBC. 

 
 The Kick Start to Recovery Football programme supports people age 16+ years in the 

local area who are recovering from addiction.  The programme is delivered every 
Wednesday in Irishtown on an ongoing basis.  
 

Rowing in the Community 
The secondary school Get Going, Get Rowing indoor and on the water programmes continue 
in secondary schools including those in the South East area.  
 
Rugby in the Community 
Tag rugby in-school sessions continue in the following South East area primary and secondary 
schools:  

 Sandford Park (Mixed) 

 Scoil Chaitriona (Mixed) 

Page 95

mailto:dee.oboyle@dublincity.ie


 The Teresians (Female) 

 St. Conleth’s (Mixed) 

 St. Matthew’s NS (Mixed) 

 Star of the Sea (Male) 

 Rugby Development programme  continues in Marion College from Wednesday 4th 
January (Male) 

 Coaching programmes are currently in the planning stages for 2023.  

Swimming in the Community 
As previously reported,  DCC / DCSWP appointed a co-funded Swimming Ireland 
Development Officer in 2022 to increase opportunities for everyone in our communities to 
get involved with swimming and enjoy the benefits of water based physical activities.  Work 
around maximising the use of indoor and open water facilities continues along with plans to 
increase lifeguarding training.  

Training for 2023  

 Safeguarding 1,2 & 3  

 Health & Safety (administrative & DCC Sports & Fitness Centres) 

 First Aid Training 

 PHECC Training  

 Disability & Inclusion in Sport training programmes delivered in partnership with 
CARA.  

 
CONTACT DETAILS: 
 

Name Role Contact Information 

Aideen O’Connor Programmes & Services 
Manager, DCSWP 

aideen.oconnor@dublincity.ie 

Colin Sharkey Office Manager, DCSWP Colin.sharkey@dublinciy.ie 

Michelle Malone Sport Officer, DCSWP Michelle.malone@dublincity.ie 

William Morris Sport Officer, DCSWP William.morris@dublincity.ie  

Marie Louise 
Reilly 

Sport Officer, DCSWP Marylouise.reilly@dublincity.ie  

David Phelan HSE Health Promotion & 
Improvement Officer 

Davidphelan6@mail.dcu.ie  

Colette Quinn Development Officer, Athletics colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie 

Jonathan Tormey Development Officer, FAI Jonathan.tormey@fai.ie  

Chris McElligott FAI Development Officer 
(disability)  

chris.mcelligott@fai.ie 

Ken Knaggs Rugby Development Officer Ken.knaggs@leinsterrugby.ie  

Fintan Mc Allister Development Officer, Cricket Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie  

Michael Carruth Development Officer, Boxing Michael_carruth@ymail.com 

Aoife Byrne Development Officer, Rowing Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie 

 
 
Karl Mitchell 
Director of Services, Central and South East   Dated: 4th January 2023 

Page 96

file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/aideen.oconnor@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Michelle.malone@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/William.morris@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Marylouise.reilly@dublincity.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Davidphelan6@mail.dcu.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/colettequinn@athleticsireland.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Jonathan.tormey@fai.ie
file://///dccdata/cande/Shared/EandC/Sport%20&%20Wellbeing%20Partnership/Communications/Area%20Committee%20Reports/Reporting%202021/South%20East%20Area/chris.mcelligott@fai.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Ken.knaggs@leinsterrugby.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Fintan.mcallister@cricketleinster.ie
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Michael_carruth@ymail.com
file:///C:/Users/50580/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/URWLPUGV/Aoife.byrne@getgoinggetrowing.ie


Culture, Recreation and Economic Services 
South East Area Office 

 
 
To the Chairperson and Members of the  
South East Area Committee 
 
 

 
Naming and numbering proposal for a development at 11, 11A and 12 York Road, 
Ringsend, Dublin 4. 
 

 
 

Teach Thomáis Uí Chléirigh / Thomas Clarke House 
 

 
A request has been received to name and number a development of residential units at 11, 
11A and 12 York Road, Ringsend, Dublin 4. 
 
The applicant proposes to name the development Teach Thomáis Uí Chléirigh, York Road, 
Ringsend, Dublin 4.  The rationale for the naming is as follows: 
 
“The subject site is in close proximity to the Tom Clarke Bridge.” 
 
The Heritage Office considers the proposed name appropriate. 
 
The numbering scheme proposed is Apartments 1 – 26.  
 
The Acting Manager Land Surveying and Mapping has assigned the name Thomas Clarke 
House and numbers as shown above.  The development is shown on map SM-2022-0605 
(Rev B). 
 
Accordingly the naming and numbering scheme as shown above is recommended for 
approval. 
 
 
Karl Mitchell. 
Director of Services Central and South East Areas. 

Page 97



Page 98



South East Area 
Block 2, Floor 4 
Civic Offices 
 
13th February 2023 

 
To the Chairperson and Members of the 
South East Area Committee 
 

 
With reference to a proposal to extinguish the Public Right of Way  

over the laneway at rear of No. 32 & No. 33 Dolphin Road, Dublin 12 
 
 
The property owners of No. 32 and No. 33 Dolphin Road have requested to have the public 
right of way extinguished over the laneway at the rear of their properties. The reason for the 
proposed extinguishment is to eliminate anti-social behaviour, to improve security in their 
homes and to prevent the ongoing issue of illegal dumping in the laneway. The proposed 
method of closure is by means of a lockable gate. The laneway is accessed from Herberton 
Drive and the portion of the laneway that abuts No. 32 and No. 33 Dolphin Road is a cul-de-
sac. The extent of the proposal is shown on the attached map No. R.M. 37662A. The laneway 
is under the charge of Dublin City Council. The South East Area Committee, at its meeting on 
13th June 2022 agreed to initiate the statutory procedures to extinguish the public right of way 
at this location under the provisions of Section 73 of the Roads Act 1993.  
 
Service Check 
A service check was carried out.    
 
Dublin Fire Brigade, Road Maintenance Services, Water Services Department and Public 
Lighting & Electrical Services have no objections to the proposal. The Environment & 
Transportation Department has no objection but has stipulated that the gate must be 
positioned 5 metres down the laneway and should hang on the rear wall of property No.32 
Dolphin Road to allow adequate turning room for vehicles.  A City Council housing complex 
‘Dolphin Court’ is located beside No.33 Dolphin Road and one of the properties No. 7 Dolphin 
Court abuts the laneway. Housing & Community Services has no objection but has stipulated 
that access will have to be maintained. Virgin Media, Gas Networks and Openeir have no 
objections. ESB Networks has no objection but has stipulated that access will have to be 
maintained. The applicants have provided written confirmation to Dublin City Council that the 
various utility companies and Dublin City Council Departments have been consulted and that 
all the requirements stipulated will be met should the proposal be successful. Planning 
Permission may be required for the erection of the gate and discussions in relation to the 
proposal have taken place with the Area Planner.  
 
Statutory Requirement 
By public advertisement in the Irish Independent on 20th June 2022, representations or 
objections were invited by the 9th August 2022.  Site notices were erected on the laneway, on 
Herberton Drive and on Dolphin Road on 20th June 2022 for a period in excess of 14 days. 
Three submissions were received in relation to this proposal and all requested oral hearings. 
The requests were from the property owner of No. 27 Dolphin Road, the property owner of 
No. 10 Herberton Drive and the owner of ‘Spot on Paint Repairs’ who operates a business in 
the laneway.  
 
Three separate oral hearings were held on 22nd November 2022 in the Crumlin Area Office, 
all conducted by Brian Hanney, Area Manager for South East Inner City and Pembroke.  

Page 99



The persons objecting to the extinguishment generally raised the same issues as those 
raised in the original submissions namely: 
 
The first oral hearing was held with the owner of ‘Spot On Paint Repairs’ who has operated 
his business in the laneway for over 12 years and the following concerns were expressed by 
him:  

 The portion of the laneway included in the proposal is used by himself and people who 
live beside the laneway 6 days a week.   

 If the laneway is gated then the proposed remaining 5 metre space will not be long 
enough for large vans/vans with trailers to reverse into if another vehicle enters the 
laneway.  In this situation the vehicle entering the laneway will have no option but to 
reverse out of the laneway. Children play in the lane and it would be very dangerous 
for them if vehicles were reversing.  

 He is aware of man who uses the laneway with a van measuring 7.5 metres. If there 
were 2 similar size vans in the laneway and both needed to reverse at the same time 
more than 15 metres would be required so the proposed 5 metres is not sufficient.  

 Potential implications for emergency vehicles if the portion of the laneway is gated.  
 
In his written submission the business owner stated that there is very little if any, anti-social 
behaviour in the laneway. He also stated that the owners of the two houses applying for the 
extinguishment rarely use the laneway. He has a car business and travels up and down the 
lane at least half a dozen times a day and without that space for other businesses or 
neighbours in the lane to reverse into to let him out it would be dangerous.  
 
The second oral hearing was held with the property owner of No. 10 Herberton Drive who has 
lived beside the laneway since 2016 and the following concerns were expressed by him: 
 

 There is an automatic gate at the rear of his property that provides access to the 
laneway.  He has a business in Inchicore and uses the laneway regularly to get stock 
delivered and also when he brings towels home for washing. Trucks making a delivery 
to his property use the portion of the laneway included in the proposal to turn.  

 Work was previously carried out to his property and at the time the truck driver was 
able to use the portion of the laneway included in the proposal. 

 At present vehicles already in the laneway can reverse into the space at the end of the 
laneway if the driver meets another vehicle coming in the opposite direction and the 
other vehicle can pass by. It would be dangerous for vehicles to reverse out onto 
Herberton Drive.  

 A car business operates on the laneway. The laneway is used for cars to go into the 
garage for repair which increases traffic.  

 There is a kink at the start of the laneway that can catch drivers. 

 He is aware of another man who also uses his van in the laneway.  

 The option to make an appeal to the Planning Department or An Bord Pleanála if the 
proposal is approved was queried.  

 The dumping in the laneway is not substantial.  

  There is not an issue with people congregating in the laneway. The laneway on the 
opposite side of the road to this laneway is not a dead end and there is a real problem 
with anti-social behaviour in that laneway. 

 It would be his preference for the right of way to be maintained but if it was gated he 
could bring his truck into the front of his house.  

 
In his written submission he stated that his rear entrance is only 4 metres from the portion of 
the laneway proposed to be gated and that he has never seen any anti-social behaviour in it.  
He states that he does not see the occupants of No. 32 & No. 33 use the laneway for vehicle 
access and one of the houses only has pedestrian access. He also stated that closing this 

Page 100



part of the laneway does away with a valuable passing point. One of the main reasons for 
buying his property was the ease of access to the rear.  
 
The third oral hearing was held with the property owner of No. 27 Dolphin Road and the 
following concerns were expressed by him: 
 

 He has concerns regarding the movement of traffic in the laneway. There is a kink in 
the laneway, so it is not possible for drivers to see other drivers. At present if a vehicle 
enters the lane and there is another vehicle coming in the opposite direction, the 
vehicle exiting the laneway can reverse back into the space which is included in the 
proposal. The proposed 5 metre set back would not be enough for him to reverse his 
van which is 6.3 metres long. If the laneway is gated vans and vans with trailers will 
not have room to reverse and this will force both vehicles onto the road. He has major 
safety concerns regarding vehicles having to reverse down the laneway. A number of 
elderly residents who use the laneway are not good at reversing and need the space 
in the laneway to manoeuvre. 

 Neither of the applicants use the laneway so they don’t realise how busy the laneway 
is.  

 The dumping in the lane is minimal.    

 The residents making the application built a fence in the laneway in 2021 which was 
reported to the City Council and subsequently removed.   

 He is aware of an Antique Dealer who operates on the laneway and uses the portion 
of the laneway included in the proposal. 

 There is very little anti-social behaviour in the laneway 

 Consideration should be given for future uses of the laneway including businesses 
and traffic flow.  

 
In his written submission he stated that he has been living in his home for 12 years and uses 
the rear laneway as his primary access and at different times throughout the day. The laneway 
has to his knowledge 3 small businesses using garage premises who operate vans and with 
daily van deliveries and at times can be relatively busy. There is an awkward bend at the 
beginning of the laneway which can be difficult to vehicles to reverse around as-is. The area 
in the proposed plan is actively and daily used to manoeuvre vehicles so as to allow traffic to 
flow. Should the extinguishment come to pass it would create great inconvenience and 
significant safety concerns. He stated that the applicants do not use the laneway themselves 
and the proposed extinguishment will cause traffic problems for the active lane users. 
 
Recommendation 
I have considered the issues raised during the three oral hearings and in their original 
submissions. The 3 parties objecting to the proposal and the applicants all have valid 
concerns.  
 
On balance the recommendation to extinguish the public right of way over the area indicated 
on Drawing No. R.M.37662A with the gates positioned 5 metres back down to the laneway is 
a reasonable compromise.  
 
The Area Traffic Engineer has monitored the location and is satisfied that that if the gate is 
positioned 5 metres down the laneway that adequate passing room for vehicles is allowed.  
 
The applicants stated in their application that both properties have been broken into and I am 
satisfied that the gating of the portion of the laneway to the rear of No. 32 and No. 33 Dolphin 
Road is the best solution to facilitate a safer environment for those who live in the respective 
properties. 

Page 101



I accordingly recommend that the Committee recommend to the City Council that the 
extinguishment of the public right of way over the area indicated on Drawing No. R.M. 37662A 
be approved subject to the requirements of the Fire Officer and the Planning Department in 
relation to the design of the gate. In addition, the laneway shall not be used by the adjoining 
property owners or others for unauthorised use. 
 
The extinguishment of a public right of way is a function reserved to the City Council. 
 
 
Karl Mitchell 
Director of Services, Central and South East 
 

Page 102



Page 103



DUBLIN CITY COUNCIL 
SOUTH EAST AREA COMMITTEE 

13th FEBRUARY 2023 

 
Motion 1 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
That this committee agrees to consider funding (discretionary fund) for the refurbishment of 
the boundary wall 23 yds long and 8 ft. high between Cathal Brugha Barracks and opposite 
42 / 44  Mount Drummond Avenue, which is in a poor state of repair, dashing is falling off and 
a hazard for passing pedestrians.  Members of the residents association would be prepared 
to take down falling dashing and leave the wall ready for repointing.  They are asking the 
council to cover the cost of repointing the wall.  The fact that residents are prepared to do this 
work would make it much less costly than if the council did the work themselves. 

 
Motion 2 from Councillors Dermot Lacey and Mary Freehill 
This committee requests the Chief Executive of Dublin City Council to seek a meeting with the 
Chief Executive of the City of Dublin Education & Training Board (CDETB) with a view to 
securing the restoration of the former Concert Hall, the conservation of Town Hall Clock in the 
Rathmines Town Hall and the acquisition of the former TU Dublin premises in Rathmines for 
the necessary additional rooms for Rathmines College and following that meeting to report to 
the area committee.  

 
Motion 3 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
In the interest of  facilitating residents, cyclists and survival of our small shops in in Harold’s 
Cross Village, That the Traffic Dept. in consultation with the Traders of Harold’s Cross Village 
find a way of allowing Loading  at appropriate hours to receive deliveries  and  also parking 
between 10.00 - 12.00. 
 
Motion 4 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
That the executive investigate the possibility of using the roof of the council’s crèche building 
in Williams Park to erect Solar Panels that could benefit the Swan Leisure Centre’s energy 
consumption. 
 
Motion 5 from Councillor Mary Freehill 
That the Parks Department finds a solution to prevent scrambler bikes using Ceannt Park at 
night.  This is causing a major problem for the surrounding residents. 
 
Motion 6 from Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to design and implement a 'tarmac on 
footpaths reduction strategy' for the South East Inner City and to commit to better, safer, 
more aesthetic solutions to fixing footpaths in the area. 
 
Motion 7 from Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to address the ongoing issue of litter on 
South Lotts Road'. 
 
Motion 8 from Councillor Claire Byrne 
That this Area Committee calls on the Area Manager to: 

 Increase the street / footpath cleaning on Thorncastle Street Ringsend up to the cul de 
sac of Portview house and apartments and the green areas surrounding St Patricks 
Rowing Club. The area is rife with rubbish, dog fouling, dead fallen leaves and glass. 

 To ask the dog fouling inspectors to increase supervision of the area  
 Remove posters for events that have since happened to be removed from the area. 

 

Page 104



Motion 9 from Councillors Tara Deacy and Pat Dunne  
That this committee agree to the reinstatement of Public Domain Service in the Southeast 
Area.  This service or Waste Management alternative should be reinstated with immediate 
effect.  
 
Background:  
In late 2022 the Community Clean-up service provided by the Public Domain Waste 
Management crews (north side & south side) was told to cease, so from November 2022 the 
Public Domain Crews would be reassigned to the Area Based Cleansing schedule.   
 
The number of Days available for this deep clean was roughly 10/11 days per month for the 
south side and these days were split between south east and south central.  
 
On a monthly basis a list was provided to the Public Domain Inspectors. The locations would 
usually be based on Inspections, Community group requests or upcoming events in an area.  
The Public Domain Inspectors and Crews were very effective and thorough in their work 
without exception, and the service was very well received by local residents & Community 
groups. For the small amount of days involved per month it really made a difference in the 
communities and the removal of this service leaves a large gap in the service delivery 
options.  This is a service that worked and to have it removed without an alternative being 
provided is counterproductive.  
 
Motion 10 from Councillors Tara Deacy  
That this committee agree that we get update / feedback on the Dog Warden service on a bi-
monthly basis.  I submitted a motion late 2022 and made a request that the Dog Warden for 
our area roll out a pilot in both Bushy and Eamonn Ceannt Park around dogs being off the 
lead.  Has this pilot started, if so can we get that feedback.  
 
Motion 11 from Councillors James Geoghegan and Dermot Lacey  
That the South East Area Committee agrees the following matters will be examined adjacent 
to the entrance of St Mary’s National School Donnybrook on Mount Eden Road, along with 
the supporting photos attached;  
 

 road resurfacing for Mount Eden Road which is in a state of disrepair and not 
supportive of active travel for school students on bicycles and scooters in 
circumstances where the road surface has been exacerbated by construction works 
for the new school which are now completed;  

 re-installation of the road markings of the yellow box already in place, but where the 
paint work has been removed, again at the entrance to the school on Mount Eden 
Road; 

 improvement works on the footpath immediately at the entrance to the school, and the 
road, and again the other side of the road which include works to make that road 
crossing accessible for persons in wheelchairs; and 

 that St Mary’s National School Donnybrook is formally place on a list of schools which 
would be considered for a School Zone initiative whenever the program re-commences 
and examines whether in the interim, road markings only, could be painted on the road 
surface in a similar manner to what is provided in the School Zones to promote safety 
and active travel;  

 additional school safety warnings at the part of Mount Eden Road which twists around 
the corner onto the straight where the school entrance is located either through road 
markings on the part of Mount Eden Road perpendicular to Belmont Avenue or signage 
to warn vehicles of the school children at play and entering or exiting school.   

 
 

Page 105



   
 

   
 
Motion 12 from Councillor Hazel Chu 
This council once again agrees to an audit of the various council owned playing fields and 
pitches, when they are in use and how often they are used and by what clubs, individuals or 
groups. That this audit will be completed within a six month period bearing in mind the last 
time this motion was agreed was over 12 months ago. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 106



Question to Chief Executive  South East Area Committee 
  Meeting 13th February 2023 
 
Q.1 Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Area Manager of Baggot Lane, Dublin 4, particularly outside 102 – 124 
Baggot Lane, could be cleaned as a matter of urgency given the state it is currently in 
as evidenced by the attached photographs and if the frequency for the lane cleaning 
could be examined and increased if necessary.  
 

   
 

 
 
Q.2 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if the following items could be dealt with: 
 
1) Paint barriers / railings at entrance to Irishtown Nature Park opposite Marine Drive. 
2) Clean graffiti from Notice board at same area. 
3) Remove the large yellow Dump bag with weeds now growing from it at Car Park at 

Sandymount Strand. 
4) Remove dirt now congealed at furthest Southern car Park along Sandymount / 

Merrion Strand. 
 
Q.3 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

Further to previous replies to questions on the issue of road and footpath sweeping in 
Ranelagh (details below), I am told that there have been no improvements.  To ask 
the Manager to respond positively to these repeated requests: 
 

A. Sweeping of Ranelagh. The sweeping of streets in Ranelagh seems to have 
disappeared completely. In the run-up to Christmas they were just in an 
appalling state but on Christmas Eve gutters were swept but of course not the cycle 
lanes.  

Page 107



 
Below is the reply of November 12th 2019. 

 
Q.38    Councillor Dermot Lacey 

         To ask the Manager the following: 
 

1. The frequency of sweeping the kerbside of the following roads in Ranelagh: 
a) The main street of Ranelagh from Marlborough Road to the Luas 

station 
b) Chelmsford Road 
c) Oakley Road 
d) Charleston Road 
e) Any other road kerbsides leading into Ranelagh village 

 
2. The designated day of the week or month for such sweeping of each of the 

above. 
 

3. The frequency of sweeping the following footpaths: 
a) Footpaths in Ranelagh village from Marlborough Road to the Luas 

bridge 
b) Chelmsford Road footpaths 
c) Charleston Road footpaths 
d) Any other footpaths leading into Ranelagh village 

 
4. The designated day of the week or month for such sweeping of each of the 

above. 
 
Reply:  
Waste Management Services have the kerbside and footpaths of the main 
street Ranelagh swept on a daily basis. 
Waste Management Services have the kerbside and footpaths of Chelmsford 
Road and Charleston Road swept five days a week, Monday to Friday. 
Waste Management Services have the kerbside and footpaths of Oakley 
Road swept once a week, usually on a day when the parking isn’t too heavy. 
 
Contact: 
Mick Boyle, Senior Staff Officer, Waste Management Services, tel.: 222 4240, 
email: mick.boyle@dublincity.ie 

   
   So you might ask if this official rota still applies or what the current rota is? 
 

B. In relation to Ranelagh sweeping you also asked in 2020 about sweeping of cycle 
lanes in Ranelagh you received the following reply: 

Meeting 12th October 2020 
 

Q.12 Councillor Dermot Lacey 
 

To ask the Manager if he will outline how it is intended to sweep the streets 
and roadside of Ranelagh in the locations where the new white bollards are 
now in place and if he will arrange for a clean sweep of the area. 

 
Reply: 
Waste Management Services sweep the streets and roadside of Ranelagh 
with one of our regular compact sweepers. We currently litter pick the new 

Page 108

mailto:mick.boyle@dublincity.ie


protected cycle lane there as our current compact sweeper is too big for these 
new cycle lanes. 

 
We recently trialled two sub compact road sweeper to assist with the cleaning 
of the new protected cycle lanes such as the one in Ranelagh. Both sweepers 
are smaller than the current compact sweeper. We are in discussions with 
fleet management services as to how these can be procured so that we can 
sweep these new protected cycle lanes. 

 
Contact: 
Mick Boyle, Senior Staff Officer, Waste Management Services, tel.: 01 222 
4240, email: mick.boyle@dublincity.ie 

 
Q.4 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager if he can respond positively to the requests previously submitted 
for improvements to road signage at the following locations 
 
a) Street sign for Mornington Road at entry from Ashfield - No sign at all at the 

moment. 
b) Street sign for Mornington at the upper end-junction.  Current sign unreadable as 

lettering removed. 
c) Street sign for Chelmsford Lane at junction with Sallymount Avenue, current sign 

unreadable as above. 
d) Two street signs on Triangle (over Quillsenens estate agent). 
e) Saying Cullenswood Road - the official name for that short section and ii) Saying 

Charleston Road with arrow as Charleston Road starts after Luas bridge. 
f) There are no signs on Edenvale and Mountain View Road at the junctions with 

Albany Road.  This means that if on Albany Road, there is no indication of what 
roads are being entered. 

g) There is no sign on Albany Road for it when entering from Edenvale or 
Mountainview. 

h) Replace disintegrated sign for Winton Road at junction with Appian Way. 
i) Ranelagh Road goes from the Luas Bridge to Charlemont Bridge. There is no sign 

for it at either end. 
 
Q.5 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the Director of Services what engagement, if any, Dublin City Council has had 
with the owners of Crumlin Shopping Centre regarding lapsed planning permissions 
for the site.  While one retail unit remains operational, the vast majority of the site is 
underutilised and has been a derelict eyesore for some time, including the former 
swimming pool building which has lay derelict for more than 10 years.  Can the Director 
confirm what engagement DCC has had with the owner, whether DCC has considered 
CPOing the site and whether it has been partially entered onto the Derelict Sites 
Register? 

 
Q.6 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the manager for an update on proposed works to take place in City Quay and 
a timeline for the same. 

 
Q.7 Councillor Mary Freehill 

Would the Development Department update us on present status and action derelict 
site on south corner of Le Vere Terrace Harold’s Cross. I have taken this issue up 
several times in the past and wonder why it hasn’t been designated a derelict site. 

 
 

Page 109

mailto:mick.boyle@dublincity.ie


Q.8 Councillor Mary Freehill 
Would the Law Agent update us on the Council site in Dartry beside the Dodder and 
the request to acquire it by a local professional office? 

 
Q.9 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

To ask the Manager in relation to the works at Beach Road / Strand Road, 
Sandymount: 
 

1. To confirm the actual positions of the traffic counters and sound monitors 
during the course of the Irish Water main works, as traffic is diverted during 
the progression of the works. 

2. To confirm that these monitors are in working order and that data has and 
is being logged. 

3. To confirm that ongoing functionality will continue to be confirmed on a 
frequent basis. 

4. To confirm that any additional monitors, as needed by works progression, 
as may be needed to supplement the data set, will be provided to facilitate 
the post works analysis, needed to underpin decisions around the impact of 
the cycle-route in particular. 

5. To report this data and commit to full analysis of this data and reporting of 
that to Councillors and residents shortly after the diversionary works are 
complete. 

 
Q.10 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the Litter Warden to increase the number of patrols around Erne Terrace.  
There is persistent issues with dumping and 'no dumping' signs are being ignored.  

 
Q.11 Councillor Kevin Donoghue 

To ask the Manager to arrange for cleaning of the lanes in South Lotts; residents have 
reported high levels of detritus and the presence of rodents in the lanes. 

 
Q.12 Councillor Dermot Lacey 

In recognition of the legitimacy of the issues but also in acknowledging the huge 
commitment of the active volunteers of the Dodder Action Group, to ask the Manager 
if he will respond positively to the following issues raised by them:  
 
"For the past five years Dodder Action has run monthly clean-ups of the Milltown area.  
We have repeatedly asked that the recycling bins in Milltown car park be moved from 
their position at the top of a slope which acts as a chute to the River Dodder.  Further, 
as the bins act as cover, dumping goes on behind them on a daily basis.  Each month 
two volunteers spend all of their time in the Dublin City Council-run car park cleaning 
up around and behind the recycling bins when they should really be working up and 
down the river.  Each month DCC promptly collects our bags from beside the recycling 
bins.  The bins are extremely badly located.  
  
Between the bins and the river the slope is covered in weed mat which could not be 
worse for biodiversity and conducts the junk towards the river.  We frequently find used 
nappies behind the bins as well as stacks of clothes dumped when the clothes bins 
are full.  We also find furniture, paint and building materials.  This week we found a 
candelabra and a mirror.   
 
The whole area is a magnet for vermin and there are often notices announcing the 
application of rat poison. 

Page 110



 
It would be hard to provide a worse backdrop for the Dodder Greenway, a wildlife 
corridor from mountains to sea, a public amenity for the people of Dublin and a local 
beauty spot. 
 
We request again that the recycling bins be moved away from the river, even to either 
side of the car park where dumping would not go on unobserved.   
 
We also request that the clothing bins be REMOVED as they are not emptied often 
enough and their provision encourages people to think of the facility as a general 
dump. 
 
Please respond to our request.   
 
We will be monitoring the area regularly and plan if necessary to engage the public in 
a campaign for their removal. 
 
We request your help in this matter, 
Yours, 
Dodder Action 
(The pictures are from Saturday January 21st).” 
 

   
 

 
 
Q.13 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager can he arrange for the maintenance issues at this property (details 
supplied) to be addressed as a matter of urgency. 

 
Q.14 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager can he arrange for the maintenance issues at this property (details 
supplied) to be addressed as a matter of urgency. 

 

Page 111



Q.15 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 
To ask the Manager can a cage be installed in Bishop Street Flats, Dublin 8 to store 
the bins away, which hopefully help with the rat infestation in the complex, and if he 
will arrange for the moss to be cleaned from the public areas of the complex. 

 
Q.16 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager to arrange for the repair of the banister at (details supplied) as a 
matter of urgency. 

 
Q.17 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager to ensure that the Montague Court, Montague Street, Dublin 8 
complex is made accessible for fire and ambulance emergency services.  A resident 
of Montague Court rang an ambulance for her mother on 31/12/2022 but the 
ambulance could not get access to the complex as bollards were blocking one 
entrance and the ambulance couldn’t fit through the other entrance due to the adjoining 
new building. 

 
Q.18 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager for an update as to when this tenant’s (details supplied) new 
windows will be installed. 

 
Q.19 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager to arrange for the repair of the foot path at the entrance to Glover’s 
Court, Off York Street, Dublin 2 as a matter of urgency, as a resident recently fell over 
it and was seriously injured. 

 
Q.20 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager to arrange for a new back door to be installed at this property 
(details supplied), as the current one is broken and is unable to be locked, which 
creates a major safety concern for this tenant. 

 
Q.21 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager to arrange for the lights to be repaired / replaced at the entrance 
to the balconies in Block S & J in Pearse House, as well as the lights in the car park of 
those blocks which have been broken for some time. 

 
Q.22 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager to arrange for the front glass door of Block 1, Mercer House, 
Mercer Street, Dublin 2 to please be repaired as a matter of urgency after it has been 
vandalised on a number of occasions. 

 
Q.23 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if he will permit the installation of minor play equipment in 
Elizabeth O'Farrell Park which is keenly sought by the local residents and which could 
be funded through the local area discretionary fund, subject to agreement of the Parks 
manager and the Area Committee; if he will engage with the local area office to agree 
and advance this project; and if he will make a statement on the matter  

 
Q.24 Councillor Daniel Ceitinn 

To ask the Manager if he can arrange for a significant clean-up of Sean Moore Park, 
as requested in the detailed email submitted with this question.  As we head into the 
spring and summer season the park will be more used by children and adults and the 
need for a clean and safe park will be more and more important. 
 

Page 112



“To call the situation in Sean Moore Park a litter situation is a vast understatement.  I 
went for a walk there today, and not only did I fail to walk 3 metres without seeing a 
piece of litter, I saw burnt out sofas, abandoned pieces of luggage, areas clearly still 
being used as toilets, and so on. 
  
Although I realise the council is not responsible for the rubbish being there - and I can't 
understand how people can treat a public amenity like this - I have seen no effort to 
add new bins, and the park is in need of a big clean up, both of litter, and undergrowth 
holding the litter in place.  
 
I would encourage yourself and other councillors to visit the park and put some force 
behind this situation being resolved.  If not, I will need to start collecting a photo diary, 
and making some noise about this, as this is where my family and I call home.” 

 
Q.25 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to respond to the following email from a constituent. 
 
She writes, 
"As the traffic calming trial on Belmont Avenue comes to a close, I thought it 
appropriate to give you some feedback on the impact I have seen.  Firstly, thank you 
for listening to the residents of Belmont Avenue and surrounding areas to come to 
some solution for the road. 
 
I live in Vergemount Park, and have a daughter in St. Mary’s.  We cycle her to school 
on a cargo bike or standard bike with seat.  Sometimes she cycles her own bike but 
until the Clonskeagh road is safer for cycling this is rare.   
 
However, she can now cycle down Belmont Avenue to school.  Once we turn onto 
Belmont it’s like a country road.  Children are so much happier and safer.  There is no 
long aggressive driving, cars beeping, log jams of cars.  The school crossing is clear. 
Beyond the school drop of times, it is a lot calmer also.  As a driver as well as I cyclist, 
it is much more reliable to drive up from Donnybrook than in the past.  
 
The only challenge I have is with turning right by bike from Sandford Road.  The current 
build out is designed to accommodate cyclists coming from Ranelagh but not from the 
Eglinton Road direction.  It’s fairly tricky to manoeuvre, especially with the cargo bike 
or if there is a vehicle blocking the yellow box. 
 
I'm very supportive of the measures introduced and hope they can remain a permanent 
fixture." 

 
Q.26 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to respond to the following email from a constituent. 
 
He writes, 
"The Park Avenue Action Group (PAAG) wish to log an official complaint concerning 
Uisce Éireann's traffic management arising from the closure of the Northbound Lane 
of the Strand Road. 
 
We understand that the water works need to be completed as a matter of urgency, and 
due to the complexity of the traffic management, with Strand Road being an arterial 
road and an inner relief road of the city, the northbound lane onto Strand Road from 
Merrion Gates needs to be closed.  
 

Page 113



The traffic travelling northbound has thus been re-directed along the Merrion Road 
down Serpentine Avenue / Tritonville Road which are narrow residential roads.  Since 
the introduction of this change in traffic layout, major traffic delays have been recorded 
on Tritonville Road. 
 
In the last three days there have been two incidents of cars crashing at the Tritonville 
/ Newbridge Avenue junction.  We have also seen major backlogs of traffic at the 
junction of Merrion Road / Serpentine Avenue where vehicles are waiting to turn right 
down Serpentine Avenue. 
 
These excessive traffic jams on Merrion Road are leading vehicles to turn left up 
Ailesbury Road and make U-turns to go down Sydney Parade.  The same is happening 
on Simmonscourt Road where frustrated drivers are doing u-turns to go down 
Sandymount Avenue. This is leading to rat running and excessive speeds on 
residential roads. 
 
When we attended the consultation meeting with the bodies responsible for the works 
on Strand Road, we specifically asked about Merrion Gates and were told they would 
be closed for 6 weeks allowing work in that area. 
 
We now ask for clarification on the stage of the works, the further plans for the works 
and the expected date for the return of Merrion Gates to two way traffic.  
 
The excessive traffic on Merrion Road and surrounding area confirms that Strand Road 
is an arterial route, so we also ask that in the interim, a stop / go system be operated 
on Strand Road so motorists, cyclists, pedestrians and local residents no longer have 
to tolerate this poorly planned traffic management system." 

 
Q.27 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to deal with the following issue. 
 
“As a long term resident of Sandymount living on Sandymount Avenue close to the tee 
junction of Gilford Road and Sandymount Avenue, I want to log and report the 
unprecedented increase in traffic flow at that junction including severe traffic 
congestion and delays in all three directions, increased car speeding, a discovered 
new rat run to circumvent traffic congestion elsewhere.  The significant increase in bus 
traffic (no’s 47, 18, C1, C2 and other empty buses leaving and entering service) is also 
compounding the problem.  
 
I myself have on one occasion had a 12 minute wait to get out of my drive at number 
84.  I can also report that the safety of pedestrians crossing the road at this busy 
junction is increasingly challenged by irate drivers that do not give them road crossing 
precedence – it is only a matter of time before a serious accident occurs at this 
uncontrolled junction.   
 
I am also concerned that the Strand / Beach Road water improvement project (and any 
other future traffic diversion project) has led to increased risk to public health on a 
number of fronts – namely; increased noise, increased pollution, increased traffic 
counts negotiating the narrow Sandymount residential road-network, wear and tear on 
many road surfaces producing large potholes and their associated dangers, vehicles 
mounting footpath, cars crashing, etc. 
 
I ask DCC, have they installed vehicle counting monitors, pollution monitors (PM and 
NO2 etc.) and noise monitors along the routes that diverted traffic is travelling?  Where 

Page 114



are these monitors installed, how often are they read, and is the collected data 
available for to be inspected by Sandymounters? 
 
Environmental protection is required, and its function is to protect and improve air 
quality in the GDA, and in particular when huge volumes of traffic are diverted through 
Sandymount Village and environ.  The general health of Sandymount is been 
compromised by a down turn in air quality, by an increase in noise, and the safety of 
pedestrians is been challenged daily by huge increases in diverted traffic flow.”     

 
Q.28 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the manager to deal with the following issues from a constituent. 
 
“Here is a random set of photographs that I took on Sunday in Sandymount.  I could 
have taken hundreds more but this selection is typical of the total neglect of the basic 
maintenance of the Public Realm by Dublin City Council: soden leaves that are not 
only unsightly but dangerous where they make footpaths unsafe to walk, sodden 
leaves in the gutters even at pedestrian lights, park railings left unpainted, park notice 
boards left with graffiti, flood protection sandbags left for so long that the weeds 
growing out of them have become shrubs, kerbs overgrown with weeds.  I could have 
taken photographs of the ridiculous sight of the derelict baths covered in graffiti 
on Merrion Strand. 
 
It's not good enough for a European Capital City.  It's not good enough for any civilised 
community.  
 
Will any of you undertake to deal with this?  
 
I don't mean a one-off blitz.  I mean, pressurising Dublin City Council to initiate a proper 
everyday maintenance of the city.  
 
There is obviously money available there just seems to be an absence of interest and 
/ or proper management.” 
 
See pics below:  
 

   
 

Q.29 Councillor Paddy McCartan 
To ask the Manager to respond to the following issue. 
 
“A Greyhound truck was collecting black bins at 5.40am this morning on Belgrave 
Square, Dublin 6.  I know they do really essential and hard work.  But this is very early 

Page 115

https://scanner.topsec.com/?d=1962&r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2Fmaps%2Fsearch%2FBelgrave%2BSquare%2C%2BDublin%2B6%3Fentry%3Dgmail%26source%3Dg&t=85ba57f082cea2ed992dff7c5d39046fe96175c1
https://scanner.topsec.com/?d=1962&r=show&u=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.google.com%2Fmaps%2Fsearch%2FBelgrave%2BSquare%2C%2BDublin%2B6%3Fentry%3Dgmail%26source%3Dg&t=85ba57f082cea2ed992dff7c5d39046fe96175c1


and wakes hard working residents up.  I would really appreciate if you could ask them 
to collect from 7am (there is no email address on their website).  This avoids sleep 
deprivation and let’s individuals and families have healthier lives. 
 
I'm really disappointed that contract hours may have been changed recently without 
consultation with residents or customers (fait accompli text only received by 
Greyhound) and that they are now going further and operating outside contracted 
hours.  Citybin trucks (green and brown buns) were also out this morning before 6am. 
Fair play to the hard workers out early on a bank holiday Monday but please can you 
ask them to respect peoples’ need to sleep.” 

 
Q.30 Councillor Paddy McCartan 

To ask the Manager to respond to concerns from Cairn developers over their 
contention that the councils DCS (development construction scheme) has not been 
correctly applied on former RTE lands at Donnybrook.  As part of the permission DCC 
required Cairn homes to pay 9.97 million euro to the local authority in planning 
development contributions.  Cairn homes say that the correct charge should be 4.1 
million euro, less at 5.86 million euro.  Please explain to Cllrs how such a large 
discrepancy occurs. 

 
Q.31 Councillor Dermot Lacey  

To ask the Chief Executive if he will investigate (and initiate if possible) if the cabling 
for electric charging points could be installed in conjunction with the preparatory and 
installation works for the Clonskeagh to City Centre Cycle route along the route and in 
particular at Vergemount. (This is the stretch of Road from Ashton’s Pub to 
Vergemount Park. 

 
Q.32 Councillor Mannix Flynn  

Can the manager issue a full report with regards the use of the Staircase building in 
Aungier Street to house asylum seekers?  This building is a highly listed building and 
in recent years have been the subject of much controversy.  The building is in private 
ownership and was refurbished some years back by Dublin Civic Trust as a Grade A 
listed building. No local people were informed of this move by anyone in the local 
authority or anyone in charge of providing services to would be asylum seekers.  Why 
is this the case? That all local Councillors were not informed?  Was Dublin City Council 
informed of this move? And if so, why were all local Councillors not informed?  This 
last of local information and consultation with local residents and businesses has a 
very negative impact and in certain cases allows unsavoury elements like the far right 
to exploit the situation and create hostile protests leaving very little room for the many 
local residents and businesses to raise their concerns of the impact of creating this 
service in an area that is already choc-o-block with similar facilities and equal 
disadvantage. All that is being asked for here by the many is to be included and 
informed and be part of the solution rather than be kept in the dark, disrespected and 
disregarded by the State and this in charge of providing provision to those in need.  
Everybody here should have equal rights to transparent and open information.  This 
scenario unfortunately is being played out throughout the country creating a negative 
image of communities and residents who simply want information.  Its time now that 
this kind of unacceptable behaviour by the State and local authority changes for the 
better. 

 
Q.33 Councillor Mannix Flynn  

Can the manager look at the possibility of extending the build out of the footpaths on 
the eastern side (left hand side) of Drury Street? 

 

Page 116



Q.34 Councillor Mannix Flynn  
Can the manager issue a full update with regards the intended works at resurfacing 
the dilapidated carriageway at Sir John Rogerson’s Quay.  This roadway has become 
very dangerous particularly during downpours as the surface has completely eroded.   

 
Q.35 Councillor Mannix Flynn  

Can the manager ensure that all residents of Smock Alley apartments are made fully 
aware and included in the process of any building out of the social housing site on 
Fishamble Street?  Recent media reports would indicate that the Peter McVerry Trust 
are to develop this site with Dublin City Council.  Local residents of Smock Alley are 
very concerned with the impact that this big development will have on their local 
resources and particularly the loss of light in their homes.  They wish to be included in 
all stages of the design and development of this site.  

 
Q.36 Councillor Mannix Flynn  

Can the manager look at the possibility  of making the road carriage way safer for 
pedestrians at Stephens Green west beside the Royal College of Surgeons?  This 
stretch of roadway gives entry to the carparks and also gives an exit point out on to 
lower Mercer Street.  This can be a heavily congested area for pedestrians, cyclists 
and those using the Luas.  Unfortunately it is appallingly laid out and very dark and 
difficult to read.  

 
Q.37 Councillor Mannix Flynn  

Can the manager ensure that the street traders in Grafton Street are given full access 
to their stalls and work places during the rebuilding / refurbishment public improvement 
works, pedestrianisation of the Duke Street / Anne Street area of Grafton Street?  Also, 
to ensure that once this build out is finished that the predominant nature of this area is 
pedestrian and that under no circumstances should this unique heritage area of Dublin 
be saturated by barrels and unsightly street furniture that are simply advertisements 
for alcohol beverages.  A certain standard needs to be set now for all street furniture 
that would prohibit barrels and street furniture that is willy nilly strewn across the 
streets.  And that all advertisement on street furniture and wind breakers be subject to 
advertisement license and permits except where the premises themselves are 
advertising their own name.  Further, can these observations be added to the public 
consultation process that took place regarding this project that closed on the 25th 
January 2023? 

 
Q.38 Councillor Mannix Flynn  

Can the manager give an update regarding the intended reconfiguration and public 
safety works that are envisaged to take place on lower Mercer Street and Noel Purcell 
Way?  This area is still an absolute nightmare for pedestrians and vulnerable road 
users.  Children have to be extra careful because of the volumes of traffic in this 
particular location. It is extremely dangerous and confusing with the entrance and exit 
to the Stephens Green shopping centre car park and College of Surgeons Carpark.  It 
has now become a rat run for many cars, motor cyclists and cyclists trying to exit and 
enter the city.  Rush hour is a nightmare and there is simply no safety infrastructure for 
pedestrians.   

 
Q.39 Councillor Mannix Flynn  

Can the manager initiate a process of CPO for the derelict dilapidated building No 24 
Aungier Street?  This building has been vacant and dilapidated for the past 20 odd 
years. Its rare heritage infrastructure was undermined and damaged by the owners 
which resulted in DCC placing enforcement notices on them. Since then this unique 
building has lain idle.  This unique 18th century heritage street.  Indeed, there has been 
many architectural reports relating to the unique heritage of Aungier Street in particular 

Page 117



DCC’s own report.  Indeed, Dublin Civic Trust showed us the possibility of this street 
and its building gems when they successfully saved The Staircase No 21 from 
demolition and restored it to its former glory.  The Swan Bar intends to refurbish its 
own premises.  Equally the Marlin Hotel that owns the adjoining properties on Aungier 
Street are to be completely refurbished and brought back into use.  The building in 
question which is dilapidated (No 24) will seriously undermine these refurbishment 
works as it would appear the owner has no intention of fixing up his building.  It is 
imperative that DCC initiate the CPO order on this property without further delay. 

 
Q.40 Councillor Mannix Flynn  

Can the manager give a full update with regards the request by me some time back to 
have coach parking facilities installed on Harcourt Street?  This area is a hotel area 
and hospitality area that is in dire need of coach parking and stop off facilities. Many 
tourists and those visiting the city for conferences who are accommodated in this area 
have no way of getting to area in groups as there is no coach parking facilities.  Coach 
parking was available in the area until recently but for some odd reason was removed.  

 
Q.41 Councillor Mannix Flynn  

Can the manager give a full report with regards the policy of erecting advertising signs 
over public houses, restaurants etc.?  Many listed buildings particularly in the Dame 
Street area are being subjected to new advertising signs outside their premises.  Some 
of these signs are digital, very bright and scrolling screens or TV screens.  They give 
off a very bright light and undermine the integrity of the facades of these buildings. I 
made a recent observation to the planning department of DCC and was informed that 
these were minor infringements and the case was closed.  Can the manager furnish 
me with the policy regarding ‘minor infringements’ and any discretion DCC’s planning 
enforcement have regarding these signs and their retention.  It is obvious that these 
signs are in clear breach of the law and that planning needs to be obtained or retention 
sought bearing in mind the new generation of digital advertisement, small or large, at 
the negative impact that this new signage is creating in our environment. 

 
Q.42 Councillor Mannix Flynn  

Can the manager issue a full report with regards Googles engagement with the local 
community at Ringsend and the Pearse Street area?  This report to include what 
initiatives Google have created in the area for the community? What contact, if any, 
Google and its officers have had with Dublin City Council with regards community 
projects.  Many local people are concerned that Google is seeking to control the 
community engagement process while at the same time semi privatising the 
neighbourhoods.  There is a potential issue here and conflict of overlap and DCC’s 
community section needs to indicate that it is the lead in this area regarding community 
development and that it is not being siphoned off to a Google outreach programme.   

 
Q.43 Councillor Deirdre Conroy  

To ask the Local Area Manager to bring these details to the Parks Department and 
receive a response for the publication date of the Bushy Park Pavilion tender.  

 
The co-founder of PADEL360 states that they are supportive in relation to all the 
communities in Dublin and beyond. However, the only Padel is in Terenure.   

 
The co-founder stated on 31st January 2023: 
Publication date of the Pavilion tender “was supposed to be released last year but 
there has been nothing published on eTenders as of yet.  We were hoping it would be 
released early this year in order to submit our application.  We feel we have the right 
team to manage the pavilion and integrate the local community into our Padel360 
vision.” 

Page 118



Q.44 Councillor Anne Feeney 
To ask the Manager to address a parking anomaly on Castlewood Avenue which is 
causing access, exit and safety problems for residents.  Castlewood Avenue is a very 
busy road connecting Rathmines and Ranelagh.  On the south side of the street, there 
are double yellow lines and on the other, there are not.  For some reason, people are 
able to park on the north side of the road on Sunday (and after 4 pm), causing 
significant traffic jams and disruption with parked cars blocking driveways.  Even if 
there is enough space to exit, it is extremely dangerous reversing onto a busy road 
behind parked cars.  At 7m wide, it is not a wide road, with ambulances, fire engines, 
and public transport regularly stuck behind parked cars.  Towing trucks are regularly 
required.  There is ample parking on Sunday in the area so there is no need for a 
parking derogation on the north side of the road on Sundays or after 4pm.  Double 
yellow lines should also be considered on the north side of the road. 

 
Q.45 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to schedule repair of the traffic calming bumps / speed ramps on 
the Terenure end of Bushy Park Road.  These are in a terrible state for car users and 
should be brought up to a safe standard like the others on the road.  

 
Q.46 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to arrange for repainting of the yellow lines on Rathdown 
Avenue.  In some cases they have disintegrated entirely which allows car owners to 
ignore them and this is not helping the ongoing traffic / parking problems on this road, 
particularly with increased usage of Bushy Park going into the spring and summer.  
While I appreciate that the lines were repainted around the entrances, they have not 
been repainted on other stretches of the road where previously yellow lines were 
clearly visible. 

 
Q.47 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to arrange to have the park on Neagh Road, a quiet residential 
area, locked at night and reopened in the morning as is the case on Corrib road.  On 
a number of occasions anti-social behaviour has taken place in the park at night-time, 
including damage to the playground equipment. 

 
Q.48 Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Manager to address the issue of an untaxed and uninsured storage unit 
parked on details supplied.  

 
Q.49   Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager, in light of the launch of the national EV Charging 
Infrastructure Strategy, what are the plans for the provision of EV charging in the South 
East Area? 
 

Q.50    Councillor Claire Byrne 
To ask the Area Manager can he please repaint and extend the yellow box outside the 
entrance to the Iveagh Trust on New Bride Street. It has been become difficult to see 
due to the development across the road and is causing traffic safety issues 

 
Q.51    Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager can he please install '30km per hour' signs on New Bride 
Street as speeding is an issue here. 

 
Q.52   Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager can he please provide an update on the plans for this piece 
of vacant land on Little Ship Street (see photo attached)? 

Page 119



  

  
 
Q.53 Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager when will the damage done by a utility company on the 
recently resurfaced Long Lane be fixed?  This road was only resurfaced a year ago 
and is now destroyed at the junction of New Bride Street by shoddy workmanship. 

 
Q.54   Councillor Claire Byrne 

That this Area Committee Calls on the Area Manager to install bike parking on Lennox 
Street.  These are mostly terraced houses with no gardens so people are locking their 
bikes on lamp posts on narrow pathways.  There is a clear demand for bike parking 
here.  

 
Q.55    Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager can he install a pedestrian crossing at the junction of Lennox 
Street and Richmond Street South? 

 
Q.56    Councillor Claire Byrne 

To ask the Area Manager can he please fixed the footpaths at the junction of Trinity 
Street and St. Andrew’s Lane as it is serious disrepair? 

  

Page 120



Q.57    Councillor Mary Freehill 
Would the manager please state what steps are being taken to designate the site at 
the entrance on the south side Le Bas Terrace, Harold’s Cross a derelict building?  The 
building has been derelict for years and is the cause of rodents in the area from time 
to time.  Furthermore this is a site that could provide a much needed home.  
 

Q.58    Councillor Mary Freehill 
To ask the Manager to deal with the following issues from a Ballsbridge resident. 
 
He writes: 
 

1. When are the lamps that were removed from Ballsbridge some months ago 
due to be reinstated? 

2. To arrange to have the potholes in the middle of the bridge repaired. 
3. Who is responsible for the cleaning of Ballsbridge (cleaning / sweeping the 

streets with a brush, as a mechanical sweeping machine is ineffective where 
there are parked cars). 

 
Please note I have been in contact with the Manager's office and the return email, 
dated the 24th of January stated Shelbourne Road is scheduled for daily cleaning and 
is mechanically swept daily.  This is most certainly not the case.  Shelbourne Road has 
not been cleaned since the very poor attempt after the Leinster v Racing rugby match.  
If there is a litter management plan in place please adhere to the schedule.  

 
Q.59    Councillor Anne Feeney 

To ask the Area Manager to provide an update in respect of the disabled parking bay 
application with reference number 7029538; if he can outline when the Area Engineer 
will be examining this application, and when it can be expected that the Applicant will 
be responded to concerning their application for a parking space.  

 
Q.60    Councillor Tara Deacy 

A local couple have been in touch highlighting they bought their house in Crumlin in 
2021 and the mains water pressure is very poor - approx. 3 litres/min from the kitchen 
tap.  They have been told this is common in the Crumlin area.  Are DCC aware of any 
planned works to increase the water pressure? 

 
Q.61    Councillor Tara Deacy 

Prince Arthur Terrace, Rathmines 
The appalling condition of Prince Arthur Terrace has been brought to my attention by 
the local residents.  In the summer of 2022 DCC sent a road crew out and patch worked 
in some repairs, this is totally unsuitable solution as it just moves the water around to 
diffuse locations on the terrace.  The full road needs to be re surfaced.  

 
Q.62    Councillor Tara Deacy 
 Villiers Road 

A number of residents have raised concerns about the speed of cars using Villiers 
Road and the danger this poses to local children, the Gardaí have a role here clearly 
but can DCC please visit this site and see if we can add any traffic calming measures, 
are there any speed ramps present etc.?  What can we do as an organisation to assist?  

 
Q.63    Councillor Tara Deacy 

The advertising board, located on Rathmines Road Lower has been brought to our 
attention again with some residents saying it is continuing to beam bright light into 
houses beside it.  I know DCC responded to previous objections about the board by 

Page 121



introducing a 'fade' transition, in order to prevent the bright flash emitted between 
adverts appearing on screen.  Has this been monitored by DCC or have any 
conversations or feedback been given to DCC from local residents.  

 
Q.64    Councillor Carolyn Moore 

Can the manager undertake to write to the providers of bin collection services in Dublin 
and remind them that are only allowed to operate between the hours of 6am and 9pm 
and outline what measures are currently in place to ensure that collections are only 
taking place during these hours? This is on foot of reports to councillors of collections 
taking place from 5am, disturbing the sleep of residents.  

 
Q.65    Councillor Carolyn Moore 

Can the manager provide an update as to when the resurfacing of Orwell Road 
(scheduled for Q4 of 2022) will take place? 

 
Q.66    Councillor Carolyn Moore 

Can the manager agree to assess and identify a suitable location to install at least two 
bins in the environs of Dolphin Road and Herberton Road? Bins are required for the 
disposal of general waste and dog waste, as footfall in the area has increased recently 
with football teams, health enthusiasts and dog walkers using the area. With a 
significant pedestrian upgrade occurring here, more footfall is likely in the future, and 
dumping on the Dolphin Road green is already a huge problem. Tidy Drimnagh 
volunteers disposed of 53 bags of dog waste in a recent litter pick.  

 
Q.67    Councillor Carolyn Moore 

Can the area manager provide an update on the plans to replace the laurel hedging in 
Palmerston Park? Can this hedging be replaced with native, traditional hedge which 
could enhance the biodiversity of the park?  

 
Q.68    Councillor Carolyn Moore 

Can the area manager offer an explanation as to why the internet access in Rathmines 
library is so poor? Users complain of a 20 minute wait time trying to connect, frequently 
dropped connections, and areas of the library where the Wi-Fi isn’t available. Internet 
access is one of the vital modern public services that people should be able to rely on 
their libraries to provide, and in 2023 it is not acceptable that this service is not reliable 
in one of the city’s biggest and best libraries.  

 
Q.69    Councillor Carolyn Moore 

Can the traffic engineers for the area assess and propose a solution to the use of 
Villiers Rad as a through road connecting Rathmines Road Upper and Highfield Road? 
The current traffic management plan is causing Villiers Road to be used as a rat run, 
with vehicles travelling at an unreasonably high speed for such a narrow road. In recent 
weeks this has resulted in damage to two vehicles parked on the road.  

 
Q.70    Councillor Carolyn Moore 

Can the area manager please instruct housing to deal with the mould problem at 
(address supplied)?  The tenants have been complaining about this issue and the 
health implications for some time now. 

 
Q.71    Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager if the following can be addressed, 
 

Scaffolding and hoardings were recently erected on the Charlemont Square site, 
reducing the usable footpath space to less than an arm’s width. This is well below the 

Page 122



minimum footway width of 1.8m as specified by the Design Manual for Urban Roads 
and Streets (Section 4.3.1, May 2019 Version 1.1). 

 
This is a high-traffic footpath which serves as a critical link between stops for the 9, 16, 
68, 122, and 125 busses, the Luas, and the many employers, schools, and business 
nearby. Locals, as well as commuters from as far afield as Newbridge, Greenogue, 
Cabra, Balinteer, and the airport expect to be able to safely and quickly use this 
footpath to go about their day. 

 
The hoardings are almost certainly necessary to progress the construction works on 
the site. But the footpath that they encroach on is adjacent to a carriageway which has 
4 lanes of one-way traffic. Four lanes, in the city center!!!! I ask that just one of these 
4 lanes is closed for so long as the hoardings are present. This 25% reduction in road 
space allocated to motor vehicles would more than double the space available to 
pedestrians, ensuring safer and more efficient movement for all along this busy block. 

 
Q.72    Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager for an update on the housing position of details supplied, who is 
on the housing list since 2008, 

 
Q.73    Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager If monitored cameras could be placed on traffic lights at the 
junction of Haddington Road Grand Canal Street,  South Lotts Road and Shelbourne 
Road. Residents report consistent breaking of red lights at this junction, with many 
near misses involving the elderly and children. 

 
Q.74    Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager of a traffic island could be placed at the Haddington Road side of 
Shelbourne road. Residents report that as the road is quite wide at this section there 
is not enough time for many pedestrians to cross the road. 

 
Q.75    Councillor Danny Byrne 

To ask the manager if the junction of Wexford Street and Kevin Street could be 
inspected, there appears to be water leak there.  

 
Q.76    Councillor Mary Freehill  

Could the manager find out what progress the Minister for Culture has made in re-
establishing 1% for public art as part of Irish Water projects?  She told us a long time 
ago that a working group was established to examine it.  Irish water has reneged on 
their responsibilities and it is unacceptable that the Minister allows them get off the 
hook by not getting this group to complete its work. 

 
Q.77    Councillor Hazel Chu 

To ask the manager with the success or Belmont Avenue traffic change that said 
changes be kept but that assessment be made on Marlborough Road and work for an 
overall traffic management plan for the three parallel roads running from Donnybrook 
Road to Ranelagh Road (Marlborough, Eglinton and Belmont). 

 
Q.78    Councillor Hazel Chu 

To ask the manager to review the possibilities of putting in a glass recycling facility in 
Donnybrook. 

 
Q.79    Councillor Hazel Chu 

To ask the manager to repair or reseed the green area in Mountpleasant Square and 
investigate and put in more play facilities. 

Page 123



 
Q.80    Councillor Hazel Chu 

To ask the manager to work with the Swan Leisure to investigate and put in play 
facilities at the small green area off Williams Park. St Louis School and Safari Crèche 
children both use the park and it would be beneficial for them to have play facilities. 

 
Q.81    Councillor Hazel Chu 

To ask the manager how many dog fines were issued in the South East Area and how 
many wardens do we have in those areas 

 
Q.82    Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Area Manager if the 94sq.m of footpath area identified by Area engineers 
which merits renewal on Cowper Gardens could be added to the programme for works.  

 
Q.83   Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Area Manager what can be done about dumping of clothes around the 
clothes bin located in the Milltown Car Park which is regularly overflowing with 
volunteers regularly cleaning up as per the photo attached and email below in details 
supplied. 

 
Q.84   Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Area Manager if he could address the issues raised in this email below 
(details supplied). 

 
Q.85   Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Area Manager if he could address the specific question raised in the email 
below (details supplied). 

 
Q.86   Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Area Manager if he can address the issues raised in the email below and 
photo attached (details supplied).  

 
Q.87   Councillor James Geoghegan 

To ask the Area Manager if the issues raised in the email and photo attached below 
could be addressed (details supplied).  

 
  
 

Page 124


	Agenda
	1 Presentation on Community Wealth Building
	DCC Community Wealth Building Implementation Plan

	2 Presentation on River Dodder Rainscapes.
	Slide 1: Rainscapes
	Slide 2: Agenda
	Slide 3: What is the Rainscapes project?
	Slide 4: What are Rainscapes?
	Slide 5: Why Rainscapes
	Slide 6: Sites
	Slide 7: Milltown Road
	Slide 8: Location
	Slide 9: Catchment
	Slide 10: Proposal
	Slide 11: Street View
	Slide 12: Eglinton Road
	Slide 13: Location
	Slide 14: Catchment
	Slide 15: Proposal
	Slide 16: Tree Trench
	Slide 17: Street View
	Slide 18: Next Steps
	Slide 19: More information
	Slide 20: Thank you

	3 Environment and Transportation Department Matters
	4 Minutes of South East Area Committee meeting held on 9th January 2023
	5 Culture, Recreation & Economic Services Department Matters
	Report on City Quay Art Installation - Image of Pulse
	Report on Art Commission for Dartmouth Square

	6 South East Area Matters
	Report on proposal to name a development at York Road Thomas Clarke House
	Map Index No. SM-2022-0605 Rev. B
	Report on Proposed Extinguishment of Public Right of Way at Rear 32 33 Dolphin Road
	Drawing RM 37662A

	7 Motions 13.02.2023.
	8 Questions to the Chief Executive 13.02.2023.

